V¢ Bank Pekao

This document is a free translation of the Polish original.
Terminology current in Anglo-Saxon countries has been used
where practicable for the purposes of this translation in order to
aid understanding. The binding Polish original should be referred
to in matters of interpretation.

Consolidated

Financial Statements of
Bank Pekao S.A. Group
for the year ended on
31 December 2015

Warsaw, February 2016



Consolidated Financial Statements of Bank Pekao S.A. Group for the year ended on 31 December 2015

Translation of a document originally issued in Polish

Table of content

Consolidated income statement 3 31. Investment (placement) SECUMLIES .........uvrevreeeerereereereereereeneeeenenes 104
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 4 32. Reclassification Of SECUMHES .........veeerrerrereereererreereereereeeeseeseeseeenes 106
Consolidated statement of financial position 5 33. Assets and liabilities Neld for $ale ..............oocoooooroesersoersrre 107
Consolidated statement of changes in equity 6 34. INVESIMENLS N @SSOCIALES ...vvvvveveerereereereeseeseereseeeseeeeseesessessensesens 109
lidated cash fl
Consolidated cash flow statement 8 35, INtangible @SSELS.........cvveviverierereiie et 110
Notes to the financial statements 10 .
36. Property, plant and eqUIPMENt............ccovereurivererrereneiesese e 112
1. General INFOMMALION .......cvevieeeririreieisceis e 10
37. INVESIMENt PIOPEMY ....vvvevrrecrererceeisee e seseenes 115
2. GIOUD SITUCKUIE ..ottt 11
38, OtNEr ASSELS. ...cvueverceereeeereieeseiseseie sttt 116
3. BUSINESS COMDINALION ....vuvuvvevceiirec et 13
39. Assets pledged as COllAteral...........vverrrrererriererersereeessssesesssseensnes 117
4. Approval of the Financial Statements ............ccvveeniernncnsnesneeiene 13
40. Amounts due t0 Other BankS...........ccvieeuririeenriesneeereeseseeens 118
5. Significant aCCOUNtING PONCIES.......vrvrveriereririreinirieieereeie s 13
41. AMOUNtS UE 0 CUSTOMETS.......cuveirereireirirereisiscreisse e 118
6. Risk Management............ccovivirniniiii s 36 o
42. Debt SECUMHES ISSUE ...vuvvveerieiirereiricreieisee et 119
7. CUSIOAY BCHVILY ..vvveveceeeirescie ettt 73
A3, PIOVISIONS w.v.vevaeviescieteesessis ettt sssss s 119
8. BIOKErAge ACHVITY ...v.vuveeveeercieiiireiriree et 73
44, Other ADIIIHES . ......v.vveveecreeeeiieieseeisee e 120
9. Operating SEIMENES. ......cveuerererrirrririreriri it 75 )
45. Defined bENEfit Plans.........ccoieueirireiriieirreee s 121
10. Interest iNCOME @Nd EXPENSE........ccvvvirereiiririiitie e 78
46. Share-based PAYMENLS..........veueerireereireieineeeisieesese e 122
11. Fee and commission iNCOME and EXPENSE.........c.crererererernrnrrerererereeeenenes 78 .
A7. OPErating 1BASE ......uvvveireririieieirereiseeie st 126
12. DIVIAEND INCOME ......cveeeeiaeeecseeei st 79 ) )
48. Contingent COMMIIMENTS ..........cveuerrerieriiereinieieeneie e 126
13. Result on financial assets and liabilities held for trading...........c.cocoevrvvernne. 79 .
49. Share CapItal........cuvvevrererririiieieiseseiseee et 132
14. Gains (I0SSES) ON ISPOSAl ...evvrerieerererereererrereesereeee e eseesese s 79 ) . . . .
50. Other capital and reserves, retained earnings and profit for the period 133
15. AAMINISErAtive EXPENSES ......veereerierereerereereererseeeseseeetseseesessessssesseesesesanes 80 o
51. Non - cONtrolling iNErEStS .......c.vvveereerieeiiiriesce e 134
16. Depreciation and aMOTiZation ...............eeeereerereureereeereeeeeeseeseeseeseseeees 80 o ) i
52. Additional information to the consolidated cash flow statement........... 135
17. Net other operating income and eXPenSES .........cccoerererreereeresereeeseieneens 81 .
53. Related party tranSactions..........c.cveerrerereineieinneeinsiseseseseeseees 135
18. Net impairment losses on financial assets and off-balance sheet
COMMIMENES......vv v 82 54. Repo and reverse repo ransactions............cccccevvvveeeesssssssssiiniin 149
19. Gains (losses) on subsidiaries and aSSOCIAtES..................veeeeerrrerrrrreeenee 84 55. Company Social Benefits Fund (ZFSS) .......cccvsvvvrsssvvrnsssivnnss 150
20. Gains (losses) on disposal of property, plant and equipment, and intangible 56. SUDSEQUENT BVENTS ... 151
ASSELS 11uvurueeirere ettt 84 Glossary [
21, INCOME tAX ettt bbb en 84
22. EQMNINGS PET SNAIE......cuvvereierireirireseieteseiseseseis bbb ese st ssseees 88
23. DIVIAEN PIOPOSEL ...vvevevericvrieere ettt bbb bbb esns 89
24. Cash and balances with Central Bank ............cocreueererererneeneeneererneeernneens 89
25. Loans and advances t0 DanKS .........c..eveerereereeereeeissesessseeseeseneee e 90
26. Financial assets and liabilities held for trading .............ccovvererieererieiennns 91
27. Derivative financial instruments (held for trading) ...........ccccoverervrvrvnnnnens 92
28. Loans and advances t0 CUSIOMETS...........ccuvurircerrrierisenieenireeieiseseieisenies 98
29. Receivables from finance 188SES........cevirurereceninieiirce e 99
30. Hedge aCCOUNTING .....vueeeereeceriieeecieie s 101
Bank Pekao S.A. 2



Consolidated Financial Statements of Bank Pekao S.A. Group for the year ended on 31 December 2015
Translation of a document originally issued in Polish

Consolidated income statement

(In PLN thousand)
NOTE 2015 2014
Interest income 10 5 456 369 6 225290
Interest expense 10 (1289 799) (1763 996)
Net interest income 4166 570 4461294
Fee and commission income 1" 2388523 2536 281
Fee and commission expense 1" (382 997) (492 546)
Net fee and commission income 2005 526 2043735
Dividend income 12 13 635 8298
Result on financial assets and liabilities held for trading 13 428 048 443 301
Result on fair value hedge accounting 30 5547 (17 247)
Gains (losses) on disposal of: 14 229 601 272 055
loans and other financial receivables 534 18 579
available for sale financial assets and held to maturity investments 229 551 253 500
financial liabilities (484) (24)
Operating income 6 848 927 7211436
::l;tn I:\]i’:::;:lti?t losses on financial assets and off-balance sheet 18 (517 558) (559 575)
loans and other financial receivables (500 355) (571 830)
off-balance sheet commitments (17 203) 12255
Net result on financial activity 6331 369 6 651 861
Administrative expenses 15 (3 426 592) (3102 134)
personnel expenses (1908 519) (1905 070)
other administrative expenses (1518 073) (1197 064)
Depreciation and amortization 16 (331 465) (326 679)
Net result on other provisions (28 766) (2702)
Net other operating income and expenses 17 160 996 74 336
Operating costs (3 625 827) (3 357 179)
Gains (losses) on subsidiaries and associates 19 113 203 63210
S:;::s (losses) on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible 20 12373 1707
Profit before income tax 2831118 3 359 689
Income tax expense 21 (537 640) (634 573)
Net profit for the period 2293478 2725116
1. Attributable to equity holders of the Bank 2292459 2714714
2. Attributable to non-controlling interests 51 1019 10402
Earnings per share (in PLN per share)
basic for the period 22 8.73 10.34
diluted for the period 22 8.73 10.34

Notes to the financial statements presented on pages 10 - 151 constitute an integral part of the consolidated financial
statements.
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Consolidated Financial Statements of Bank Pekao S.A. Group for the year ended on 31 December 2015
Translation of a document originally issued in Polish

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

(In'PLN thousand)
NOTE 2015 2014
Net profit 2293478 2725116
1. Attributable to equity holders of the Bank 2292 459 2714714
2. Attributable to non-controlling interests 51 1019 10 402
Other comprehensive income
Item that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Foreign currency translation differences (1169) (69)
Change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets (237 124) 482 066
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges 30 (93 341) 168 109
Tax on items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 21 62789 (123 534)
Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss:
Remeasurements of the defined benefit liabilities 45 12900 (44 338)
Share in remeasurements of the defined benefit liabilities of associates 18 (38)
Tax on items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss 21 (2451) 8424
Other comprehensive income (net of tax) (258 378) 490 620
Total comprehensive income 2035100 3215736
1. Attributable to equity holders of the Bank 2034 081 3205334
2. Attributable to non-controlling interests 51 1019 10 402

Notes to the financial statements presented on pages 10 — 151 constitute an integral part of the consolidated financial
statements.
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Consolidated Financial Statements of Bank Pekao S.A. Group for the year ended on 31 December 2015
Translation of a document originally issued in Polish

Consolidated statement of financial position

(In PLN thousand)
NOTE 31.12.2015 31.12.2014
ASSETS
Cash and due from Central Bank 24 7881607 9226 254
Bill of exchange eligible for rediscounting at Central Bank 70 165
Loans and advances to banks 25 7314724 7169 872
Financial assets held for trading 26 1126 792 448 453
Derivative financial instruments (held for trading) 27 3206 447 4 447975
Loans and advances to customers 28 118 555 199 111871948
Receivables from finance leases 29 3503979 3112048
Hedging instruments 30 421640 470 822
Investments (placement) securities 31 21181723 24712776
1. Available for sale 17 813 299 23111208
2. Held to maturity 3368 424 1601 568
Assets held for sale 33 45302 37102
Investments in associates 34 148 965 184 228
Intangible assets 35 636 717 627 032
Property, plant and equipment 36 1460 652 1544139
Investment properties 37 30221 35295
Income tax assets 991 804 879 991
1. Current tax assets 76 600 2572
2. Deferred tax assets 21 915 204 877 419
Other assets 38 2279725 2856 928
TOTAL ASSETS 168 785 567 167 625 028
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities
Amounts due to Central Bank 24 914 971
Amounts due to other banks 40 5958 449 5344702
Financial liabilities held for trading 26 611442 591 311
Derivative financial instruments (held for trading) 27 3204 328 4417706
Amounts due to customers 41 128 867 691 125 609 000
Hedging instruments 30 1702759 1484428
Fair value hedge adjustments of hedged items due to interest rate risk - -
Debt securities issued 42 2903 233 3857 043
Income tax liabilities 6649 70 257
1. Current tax liabilities 1713 68 164
2. Deferred tax liabilities 21 4936 2093
Provisions 43 425374 442 456
Other liabilities 44 1680535 1761422
TOTAL LIABILITIES 145 361 374 143 579 296
Equity
Share capital 49 262 470 262470
Other capital and reserves 50 20 869 976 20990 344
Retained earnings and profit for the period 50 2275783 2764 875
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Bank 23 408 229 24017 689
Non - controlling interests 51 15964 28043
TOTAL EQUITY 23424193 24045732
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 168 785 567 167 625 028

Notes to the financial statements presented on pages 10 - 151 constitute an integral part of the consolidated financial
statements.
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Consolidated Financial Statements of Bank Pekao S.A. Group for the year ended on 31 December 2015
Translation of a document originally issued in Polish

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

(In PLN thousand)
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE BANK
OTHER CAPITAL AND RESERVES

FOREIGN RETAINED  TOTAL EQUITY _—
SHARE  10TAL OTHER GENERAL OTHER CURRENCY EARNINGS AND - ATTRIBUTABLETO  ¢o\rRoLLING — TOTAL EQUITY

CAPITAL  CAPITAL AND PR?amSnﬁ BANKINGRISK  RESERVE REVQELSUEAJ\',?; TRANSLATION OTHER ~ PROFITFOR  EQUITY HOLDERS INTERESTS

RESERVES FUND CAPITAL DIFFERENCES THE PERIOD OF THE BANK

Note 49 50 50 51

Equity as at 1.01.2015 262 470 20990 344 9137 221 1937 850 9002 629 540 806 1169 370 669 2764 875 24017 689 28 043 24045732

Management options - - - - - - - - - - -

Options exercised (share issue) - - - - - - - - - - -

Revaluation of management share options - - - - - - - - - - -

Comprehensive income - (258 378) - - - (257 209) (1169) - 2292 459 2034081 1019 2035100
Remeasurements of the defined benefit

labiliies (net of tax) - 10 467 - - - 10 467 - - - 10 467 - 10 467
Revaluation of available-for-sale investments

(net of tax) - (192 070) - - - (192 070) - - - (192 070) - (192 070)
Revaluation of hedging financial instruments ) B B ) ) i i )

(net of tax) (75 606) (75 606) (75 606) (75 606)
Foreign currency translation differences - (1169) - - - - (1169) - - (1169) - (1169)
Net profit for the period - - - - - - - - 2292459 2292459 1019 2293478
Appropriation of retained earnings - 161 860 - 37 565 113 961 - - 10334 (2781 551) (2 619 691) (13 098) (2 632 789)
Dividend paid - - - - - - - - (2624 701) (2624 701) (8 088) (2632 789)
Profit appropriation to other reserves including ) ) ) )

consolidation adjustments 161 860 37 565 113 961 10334 (156 850) 5010 (5010)

Other - (23 850) - - (23 850) - - - - (23 850) - (23 850)
Acquisition of Pekao Investment Banking S.A. - (23 850) - - (23 850) - - - - (23 850) - (23 850)
Equity as at 31.12.2015 262 470 20869976 9137221 1975415 9092740 283 597 - 381003 2275783 23408 229 15964 23424193

Notes to the financial statements presented on pages 10 - 151 constitute an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Bank Pekao S.A. 6



Consolidated Financial Statements of Bank Pekao S.A. Group for the year ended on 31 December 2015
Translation of a document originally issued in Polish

Consolidated statement of changes in equity (cont)

(In PLN thousand)
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE BANK
OTHER CAPITAL AND RESERVES RETAINED
TOTAL EQUITY
TOTAL FOREIGN EARNINGS )\ 17RIBUTABLE TO NON-
SHARE CAPITAL OTHER SHARE GENERAL OTHER orvaLuaTION __ CURRENCY ANDPROFIT “Eoirv hoLpers CONTROLLING - TOTAL EQUITY
CAPITAL AND PREMIUM BANKING RISK RESERVE RESERVES TRANSLATION OTHER FOR THE INTERESTS
FUND CAPITAL DIFFERENCES PERIOD OF THE BANK
RESERVES
Note 49 50 50 51
Equity as at 1.01.2014 262470 20564611 9137221 1937 850 9070 200 50 117 1238 367985 2592802 23419 883 94 288 2351417
Management options - (697) - - - - - (697) - (697) - (697)
Options exercised (share issue) - - - - - - - - - - -
Revaluation of management share options - (697) - - - - - (697) - (697) - (697)
Comprehensive income - 490 620 - - - 490 689 (69) - 2714714 3205334 10 402 3215736
Remeasurements of the defined benefit
labiliies (net of tax) - (35952) - - - (35952) - - - (35952) - (35952)
Revaluation of available-for-sale investments ) 300 473 ) ) B 390 473 B ) ) 300 473 ) 390 473
(net of tax)
Revaluation of hedging financial instruments ) 136 168 ) ) B 136 168 B ) ) 136 168 ) 136 168
(net of tax)
Foreign currency translation differences - (69) - - - - (69) - - (69) - (69)
Net profit for the period - - - - - - - - 2714714 2714714 10 402 2725116
Appropriation of retained earnings - (71 614) - - (74 995) - - 3381 (2542641) (2 614 255) (4823) (2619 078)
Dividend paid - - - - - - - - (2614 202) (2614 202) (4823)  (2619025)
Profit gpprppriati_on to other reserves including ) (71 614) ) ) (74 995) ) B 3381 71 561 (53) ) (53)
consolidation adjustments
Other - 7424 - - 7424 - - - - 7424 (71 824) (64 400)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests - 7424 - - 7424 - - - - 7424 (71 824) (64 400)
Equity as at 31.12.2014 262470 20990344 9137221 1937 850 9002 629 540 806 1169 370669 2764875 24017 689 28043 24045732

Notes to the financial statements presented on pages 10 — 151 constitute an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Financial Statements of Bank Pekao S.A. Group for the year ended on 31 December 2015

Translation of a document originally issued in Polish

Consolidated cash flow statement

(In PLN thousand)

NOTE 2015 2014
Cash flow from operating activities - indirect method
Net profit for the period 2292 459 2714714
Adjustments for: (3592 611) (7 953 110)
Depreciation and amortization 16 331465 326 679
Share of profit (loss) of associates (52 146) (63 210)
(Gains) losses on investing activities (241 559) (255 130)
Net interest income 10 (4 166 570) (4 461 294)
Dividend income 12 (13 635) (8298)
Interests received 5228 593 6231689
Interests paid (1266 247) (1765173)
Income tax 550 623 528 404
Income tax paid (607 365) (577 671)
Change in loans and advances to banks 174 433 257 414
Change in financial assets held for trading (677 498) (261 239)
Change in derivative financial instruments (assets) 1241528 (2451 041)
8{:{2? l;r; :ﬁ(ans and advances to customers and bill of exchange eligible for rediscounting at (6,507 423) (10 855 537)
Change in receivables from finance leases (391 931) (180 800)
Change in investment (placement) securities (830 115) (1313 325)
Change in other assets 819733 (956 834)
Change in amounts due to banks 615159 (1071 167)
Change in financial liabilities held for trading 20131 281569
Change in derivative financial instruments (liabilities) (1213 378) 2366 205
Change in amounts due to customers 3229320 5829409
Change in debt securities issued 91981 73 855
Change in provisions (17 082) 48919
Change in other liabilities 89372 323 466
Net cash flows from operating activities (1300 152) (5238 396)
Cash flow from investing activities
Investing activity inflows 269 003 982 407 980 528
Sale of shares in associates 33 75000 -
Sale of investment securities 268 281 039 407 198 470
Sale of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 17120 9108
Dividend received 12 13635 8298
Other investing inflows 617 188 764 652
Investing activity outflows (265 080 477) (395 889 319)
Acquisition of shares in subsidiary, net of cash acquired 2 (274 329) (64 400)
Acquisition of investment securities 31 (264 510 542) (395 559 593)
Acquisition of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 35, 36 (295 606) (265 326)
Net cash flows from investing activities 3923 505 12 091 209

Notes to the financial statements presented on pages 10 - 151 constitute an integral part of the consolidated financial

statements.
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Consolidated Financial Statements of Bank Pekao S.A. Group for the year ended on 31 December 2015
Translation of a document originally issued in Polish

Consolidated cash flow statement (cont)

(In PLN thousand)

NOTE 2015 2014

Cash flows from financing activities
Financing activity inflows 3966 098 6015875
Issue of debt securities 42 3966 098 6015875
Financing activity outflows (7 632 240) (7928 366)
Redemption of debt securities 42 (5007 539) (5314 164)
Dividends and other payments to shareholders (2624 701) (2614 202)
Net cash flows from financing activities (3 666 142) (1912 491)
Total net cash flows (1042 789) 4940 322
including: effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents held 151702 183 208
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (1042 789) 4940 322
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 15556 184 10 615 862
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 52 14 513 395 15556 184

Notes to the financial statements presented on pages 10 - 151 constitute an integral part of the consolidated financial
statements.
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Consolidated Financial Statements of Bank Pekao S.A. Group for the year ended on 31 December 2015
Translation of a document originally issued in Polish

Notes to the financial statements (cont)

(In PLN thousand)

The accompanying notes to the financial statements constitute an integral part of the consolidated financial
statements.

1. General information

The parent company of the Bank Pekao S.A. Group (the ‘Group’) is Bank Pekao S.A. (hereinafter referred to the ‘the Parent
Company’, ‘the Bank’), with Head Office in Warsaw, at 53/57 Grzybowska Street, 00-950 Warsaw. Bank Pekao S.A. was
incorporated on 29 October 1929 in the Commercial Register of the District Court in Warsaw and has been continuously in
operation since its incorporation.

Bank Pekao S.A. is registered in the National Court Registry — Enterprise Registry of the Warsaw District Court XII
Commercial Division of the National Court Registry in Warsaw under the reference number KRS 0000014843.

The Bank'’s statistical REGON number is 000010205.

Both the Parent Company and the consolidating entities constituting the Capital Group has been estabilished for an indefinite
period of time.

Bank Pekao S.A. Capital Group (‘Group’ or ‘Bank Pekao S.A. Group’) is part of the UniCredit S.p.A. Group with its seat in
Roma, ltaly.

The Bank’s shares are quoted on the Warsaw Stock Exchange (WSE). The Bank’s securities, traded on regulated markets,
are classified in the banking sector.

Bank Pekao S.A. is a universal commercial bank, offering a broad range of banking services on domestic and foreign
financial markets, provided to retail and corporate clients, in compliance with the scope of services, set forth in the Bank’s
Articles of Association. The Bank runs both PLN and forex operations, and it actively participates in both domestic and
foreign financial markets. Moreover, acting through its subsidiaries, the Group provides stockbroking, leasing, factoring
operations and offering other financial services.

Bank Pekao S.A. 10



Consolidated Financial Statements of Bank Pekao S.A. Group for the year ended on 31 December 2015
Translation of a document originally issued in Polish

Notes to the financial statements (cont)

(In PLN thousand)

2. Group structure

The Group consists of Bank Pekao S.A. as the parent entity and the following subsidiaries

PERCENTAGE OF THE GROUP’S

NAME OF ENTITY LOCATION CORE ACTIVITY OWNERSHIP RIGC.I(-)?anSHARE CAPITAL/
31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Pekao Bank Hipoteczny S.A. Warsaw Banking 100.00 100.00
Centralny Dom Maklerski Pekao S.A. Warsaw Brokerage 100.00 100.00
Pekao Leasing Sp. z 0.0. (*) Warsaw Leasing services 36.49 36.49
Pekao Investment Banking S.A. Warsaw Brokerage 100.00 -
Pekao Leasing Holding S.A. (in liquidation), including: ~ Warsaw Leasing services 100.00 100.00
Pekao Leasing Sp. z 0.0. Warsaw Leasing services 63.51 63.51
Pekao Faktoring Sp. z 0.0. Lublin Factoring services 100.00 100.00
E;?& zllggesedrA I.’owszechne Towarzystwo Warsaw 5122282 nf1uenndt 65.00 65.00
Centrum Kart S.A. Warsaw Financial support 100.00 100.00
Pekao Financial Services Sp. z 0.0. Warsaw Transferable agent 100.00 100.00
Centrum Bankowosci Bezposredniej Sp. z 0.0. Cracow Call-center services 100.00 100.00
Pekao Property S.A., including: Warsaw Real estate development 100.00 100.00
FPB - Media Sp. z o.0. Warsaw Real estate development 100.00 100.00
Pekao Fundusz Kapitatowy Sp. z 0.0. Warsaw Business consulting 100.00 100.00
Pekao Telecentrum Sp. z 0.0. (in liquidation) Warsaw Liquidated - 100.00

(*)The total share of the Group in Pekao Leasing Sp. z 0.0. equity is 100.00% (36.49% directly and 63.51% via Pekao Leasing Holding S.A.).
As at 31 December 2015, all of the subsidiaries have been consolidated.

Associates

Bank Pekao S.A. Capital Group has an interest in the following associates

PERCENTAGE OF THE GROUP’S
OWNERSHIP RIGHTS IN SHARE

NAME OF ENTITY LOCATION CORE ACTIVITY CAPITAL / VOTING
31.12.2015 31.12.2014
Dom Inwestycyjny Xelion Sp. z 0.0. (*) Warsaw Financial intermediary 50.00 50.00
Pioneer Pekao Investment Management S.A. Warsaw Asset management 49.00 49.00
Pioneer Pekao TFI S.A. Warsaw Asset management 49.00 49.00
Krajowa Izba Rozliczeniowa S.A. (**) Warsaw Clearing house - 34.44
CPF Management ;I;?::(ljas’ British Virgin Financial brokerage — not operating 40.00 40.00
Polish Banking System S.A. (in liquidation) Warsaw Pending liquidation 48.90 48.90
PPU Budpress Sp. z 0.0. (in liquidation) Zyrardow Pending liquidation 36.20 36.20

(*)The Group has no control or joint control over the entity due to provisions in the Company’s Articles of Association.
(**) The percentage of the Group’s ownership rights in share capital/voting is 5.74% as at 31 December 2015. The shares in the Company have been
classified as ‘Equity securities available for sale’.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group held no shares in entities under common control.

Bank Pekao S.A. 11



Consolidated Financial Statements of Bank Pekao S.A. Group for the year ended on 31 December 2015
Translation of a document originally issued in Polish

Notes to financial statements (cont)

(In PLN thousand)

Changes in Group structure

Acquisition of shares in UniCredit CAIB Poland S.A (presently Pekao Investment Banking S.A.)

On 1 January 2015, the Bank acquired 100% of the share capital of UniCredit CAIB Poland S.A. and obtained control over
the entity. UniCredit CAIB Poland S.A. specializes in corporate finance, in particular referring to mergers and acquisitions,
public and private offering, as well as securities trading on secondary market. As a result of the acquisition, the Group
extends the portfolio of services provided to the customers from corporate banking segment. The purchase consideration
was PLN 274 334 thousand and consisted of cash in total. After the acquisition by the Bank, the entity changed its name on
Pekao Investment Banking S.A.

The acquisition transaction was classified as intragroup transaction and recognized at book value. The Bank recognized the
assets and liabilities of the acquired entity at their book values, adjusted exclusively for the purpose of aligning the
accounting principles. Pursuant to the transaction, neither goodwill nor badwill was recognized. The result on the transaction
was recognized in the equity of the Group.

The above accounting policy is consistent with the policy of UniCredit Group, adopted by the Group and applicable for
business combination under common control.

The recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are presented in the table below

ITEM

Cash 5
Loans and advances to banks 232 469
Financial assets held for trading 12 981
Debt securities available for sale 640
Intangible assets 730
Property, plant and equipment 4047
Deferred tax assets 42 831
Other assets 60715
TOTAL ASSETS 354 418
Amounts due to other banks 581
Derivative financial instruments (held for trading) 8906
Amounts due to customers 64 042
Deferred tax liabilities 177
Provisions 442
Other liabilities 29786
TOTAL LIABILITIES 103 934
TOTAL NET ASSETS 250 484

The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of PLN 868 thousand. These costs have been included in ‘Administrative
expenses’ in the consolidated income statement.

The interest income and commission income included in the consolidated income statement since 1 January 2015
contributed by Pekao Investment Banking S.A. business was PLN 43 373 thousand. UniCredit CAIB Poland S.A. also
contributed net profit of PLN 6 822 thousand for the same period.

Liquidation of Pekao Telecentrum Sp. z o.0. (in liquidation)

On 8 January 2015, the District Court for the City of Warsaw, XlIl Commercial Division of the National Court Registry decided
on completing the liquidation proceedings of Pekao Telecentrum Sp. z o.0. (in liquidation) and deleting the Entity from the
National Court Registry.

Bank Pekao S.A. 12



Consolidated Financial Statements of Bank Pekao S.A. Group for the year ended on 31 December 2015
Translation of a document originally issued in Polish

Notes to the financial statements (cont)

(In PLN thousand)

Sale of shares in Krajowa Izba Rozliczeniowa S.A.
On 15 July 2015, the Bank sold 3 125 shares of Krajowa Izba Rozliczeniowa S.A. As a result of the transaction, the Bank’s
share in the share capital and the votes in the General Meeting of the Company was reduced from 34.44% to 5.74%.

3. Business combination

In 2015 the Bank acquired 100% of the share capital of UniCredit CAIB Poland S.A. (presently Pekao Investment Banking
S.A.). The transaction is described in the Note 2.

In 2014 Bank Pekao S.A. took over Spotdzielcza Kasa Oszczednosciowo — Kredytowa im. Mikotaja Kopernika.

4. Approval of the Financial Statements

These Consolidated Financial Statements were approved for publication by the Bank's Management Board
on 8 February 2016.

5. Significant accounting policies

5.1 Statement of compliance

The annual consolidated financial statements (‘financial statements’) of the Bank Pekao S.A. Group have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, and in respect to matters
that are not regulated by the above standards, in accordance with the requirements of the Accounting Act dated
29 September 1994 (Official Journal from 2013, item 330 with further amendments) and respective operating regulations,
and in accordance with the requirements for issuers of securities admitted or sought to be admitted to trading on an official
stock exchange listing market.

5.2 Basis of preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements

General information

These Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group, which have been prepared for the period from 1 January to
31 December 2015, contain the financial results of the Bank and of its subsidiaries, comprising the ‘Group’, as well as the
results of associated entities, measured using the equity method.

The financial statements have been prepared in Polish zloty, and all data in the financial statements are presented in PLN
thousand (PLN ‘000), unless indicated otherwise.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis on the assumption that the Group will continue its
business operations substantially unchanged in scope for a period of at least one year from the balance sheet date.

Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group have been prepared based on the following valuation methods:

o  at fair value for: derivatives, financial assets and liabilities held for trading, financial assets recognized initially at fair
value through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial assets, except for those for which the fair value cannot be
reliably measured,

e  atamortized cost for other financial assets, including loans and advances and other financial liabilities,

e at historical cost for non-financial assets and liabilities or financial assets available for sale whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured,

e non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of the carrying amount or
the fair value less costs to sell.
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The consolidated financial statements include the requirements of all the International Financial Reporting Standards and
International Accounting Standards approved by the European Union and related interpretations. Changes in published
standards and interpretations, which became effective on or after 1 January 2015, had no material impact on the Group’s
financial statements (Note 5.11).

The financial statements does not take into consideration interpretations and amendments to Standards, pending approval
by the European Union or approved by the European Union but came into force or shall come into force after the balance
sheet date (Note 5.12 and Note 5.13).

In the Group’s opinion, amendments to Standards and interpretations will not have a significant influence on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group, with the exception of IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’.

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’

In July 2014 the IASB has issued IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, the new accounting standard, mandatorily effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, that will replace IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement’. The endorsement by the European authorities is expected to be completed before its date of first time
adoption.

The new standard includes a revised model for classification and measurement of financial asserts, an impairment model for
credit allowances based on ‘expected loss’ and a reformed approach to general hedge accounting.

The new classification and measurement approach for financial assets in IFRS 9 will be based upon:

o the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets, or

e the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset (i.e. whether contractual cash flows are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, hereinafter ‘SPPI assets’).

Depending on the entity’s business model, SPPI assets may be classified as:

e  ‘held to collect contractual cash flows (measured at amortized costs and subject to the expected loss impairment),

e  ‘held to collect and sale’ (measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and subject to the expected loss
impairment),

e  held for trading (measured at fair value through profit or loss).

The Bank expects that implementation of the new impairment model based on the expected credit loss (ECL) approach will
have an impact on the Bank’s financial results, especially with reference to loans and advances to customers and banks,
loan commitments, debt securities held to collect’ and ‘held to collect and sale’, financial guarantees and leasing financial
assets in scope of the ECL approach. This new approach, designed by the IASB (as requested by the G20) allows for earlier
recognition of credit losses than according to ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39, which is instead based on the existence of
evidences of impairment.

According to IFRS 9 for the purpose of estimation of ECL the exposures are assigned into one of three stages. The

measurement of ECL depends on its credit risk and the extent of a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,

as follows:

a) “12-month ECL’ (Stage 1) — the approach applied to exposures which are non-impaired as of the balance sheet date as
long as there is no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,

b) ‘Lifetime ECL’ (Stage 2) — the approach applied to exposures which are non-impaired as of the balance sheet date but
for which a significant increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition,

c) ‘Lifetime ECL’ (Stage 3) — the approach applied to all exposures that are impaired as of the balance sheet date.

Assets allocated in Stage 1 and 2 for IFRS 9 are currently measured using the ‘incurred but not reported approach’ (IBNR).
With the transition to IFRS 9, this IBNR approach used for IAS 39 will be replaced respectively for assets allocated in Stage
1 by the 12-month ECL and for assets allocated in Stage 2 by the lifetime ECL. For assets allocated in Stage 3, which are
non-performing under IAS 39, no major conceptual differences exist with the ECL approach of IFRS 9, as triggers for
impairment recognition and non-performing loan classification used under IAS 39 will continue to be applied.
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Considering the differences in concepts described above for assets which are subject to IBNR (according to IAS 39), the
ECL approach is expected to increase the credit loss allowances. The Bank expects that implementation of the new standard
will require more-complex model-based calculation with greater predictive ability.

The application of a model of the expected loss also requires the use of a much wider range of data compared to the current
model. Implementation of the new methodology for the calculation of impairment requires the implementation of appropriate
changes in IT systems and processes functioning in the Bank.

The Bank has launched a dedicated program to implement IFRS 9, involving Finance Division, Risk Division, as well as the
main Business functions, Organization and Information Communication Technology departments. After a phase of gap
analysis and definition of high-level methodological guidelines, the activities are currently in the detailed design phase.

With reference to classification and measurement, the Bank is undertaking a detailed assessment of cash flow
characteristics of debt instruments classified at amortized cost under IAS 39, in order to identify assets that, failing the SPPI
test, will have to be potentially measured at fair value under IFRS 9. With reference to the ECL approach, the Bank is
currently working on assumption to the models, data availability and system and tools design and plans to run detailed
impact assessment for IFRS 9 impairment.

Quantitative impacts on financial statements at initial application are to date not available, reflecting the status of the above
mentioned activities. The main impacts on the Bank are expected to come from the implementation of the new impairment
model, which will result in higher credit loss allowances for loans subject to IBNR assessment. Adjustments to carrying
values of financial instruments due to IFRS 9 transition will impact book value of equity as of 1 January 2018.

The accounting principles as described below have been consistently applied for all the reporting periods.
The principles have been applied consistently by all the Group entities.

5.3 Consolidation

Consolidation principles

The consolidated financial statements of Bank Pekao S.A. Group include the financial data of Bank Pekao S.A. and its
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared at the same reporting date
as those of the parent entity, using consistent accounting policies within the Group in all important aspects.

All intra-group balances and transactions, including unrealized gains, have been eliminated. Unrealized losses are also
eliminated, unless there is an objective evidence of impairment, which should be recognized in the consolidated financial
statements.

Investments in subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group has power over
an entity, is exposed to or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect these
returns through its power over the entity. The subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of obtaining control by the Group
until the date when the control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are measured at
their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group measures any non-controlling interests in the acquire at fair value or at the
present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the recognized amounts of the acquire's identifiable net assets.
Acquisition-related costs are expenses as incurred (in the income statement under ‘Administrative expenses’).
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If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquirer remeasures its previously held equity interests in the acquiree
at fair value at the acquisition date (date of obtaining control) and recognizes the resulting gain or loss in the income
statement.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-
date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognized and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognized directly in the income statement.

The above policy does not apply to the business combinations under common control.

The changes in a parent entity's ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in the parent entity losing control of the
subsidiary are accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners of parent entity). The Group recognizes
directly in equity any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received, and attributes it to the owners of the parent entity.

When the Group ceases to have control over the subsidiary, any retained interest in that subsidiary is remeasured to its fair
value at the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognized in the income statement.

Recognition of business combinations under common control at book value

Business combinations under common control are excluded from the scope of IFRS. As a consequence, following the
recommendation included in IAS 8 ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’, in the absence of any
specific guidance within IFRS, Bank Pekao S.A. has adopted the accounting policy consistently applied in all business
combinations under common control within the UniCredit Group, of which the Bank is a member, which recognizes those
transactions using book value.

The acquirer recognizes the assets and liabilities of the acquired entity at their current book value adjusted exclusively for the
purpose of aligning the accounting principles. Neither goodwill, nor badwill is recognized.

Any difference between the book value of the net assets acquired and the fair value of the consideration paid is recognized
in the Group’s equity. In applying this book value method, the comparative periods are not restated.

If the transaction results in the acquisition of non-controlling interests, the acquisition of any non-controlling interest is
accounted for separately.

There is no guidance in IFRS how to determine the percentage of non-controlling interests acquired from the perspective of a
subsidiary. Accordingly Bank Pekao S.A. uses the same principles as the ultimate parent for estimating the value of non-
controlling interests acquired.

Investments in Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence, and that is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture.
The Group usually holds from 20% to 50% of the voting rights in an associate. The equity method is calculated using the
financial statements of the associates. The balance sheet dates of the Group and its associates are the same.

On acquisition of the investment, any difference between the cost of the investment and the Group's share in the net fair
value of the investee's identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as follows:
e goodwill relating to an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment,
e any excess of the Group's share in the net fair value of the investee's identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
the investment is included as income in the determination of the Group's share in the associate's profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.
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The Group recognizes the investments in associates applying the equity method. The investment in associates is initially
recognized at cost and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognize the Group’s share in net assets of the
associate after the date of acquisition, net of any impairment allowances. The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss
is recognized in the income statement, and its share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is
recognized in other comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment.
Distributions received from an associate reduce the carrying amount of the investment.

If the Group’s share in the losses of an associate equals or exceeds the Group’s share in the associate, the Group ceases to
recognize further losses, unless it assumed obligations or made a payment on behalf of the associate.

Unrealized profits or losses from transactions between the Group and associates are eliminated pro rata to the Group’s
share in the associates.

5.4 Accounting estimates

Preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Group to make certain estimates and to adopt
certain assumptions, which affect the amounts of assets and liabilities presented in the financial statements.

Estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and rely on historic data and other factors including
expectation of the future events which seems justified in given circumstances. Although the estimates are based on the best
knowledge of current conditions and activities which the Group will undertake, the actual results may differ from such
estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are subject to a regular review. Revisions to accounting estimates are recongised
prospectively starting from the period in which the estimates are revised.

Information on the applied estimates and the underlying uncertainity related to significant risk of the material adjustments in
the financial statements are presented below.

Impairment of loans and advances to customers

At each balance sheet date the Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence (‘trigger’) that loan exposures are
impaired. Impairment losses are incurred if, and only if at least one impairment trigger is identified and the event implicating
the impairment trigger has a negative impact on the estimated future cash flows of the loan exposure. Whilst the
identification of loan exposures impairment the Group does not consider future events, irrespective of probability of its
occurrence.

In the process of impairment assessment the Group considers all loan exposures, irrespective of the level of risk of particular
loan exposures or a group of loan exposures.

The Group splits the loan exposures into individually significant exposures and individually insignificant exposures. The
individually significant exposures are in particular all loan exposures of the borrower, for whom total Group’s exposure
exceeds the threshold value as at balance sheet date and the restructuring loan exposures of debtors being the
entrepreneurs within the meaning of the Article 43 of the Civil Code. The individually insignificant exposures are all loan
exposures, which are not classified as individually significant exposures.

For all loans exposures, which are impaired, the Group measures the amount of impairment allowance as the difference
between the loan exposure’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the loan
exposure’s original effective interest rate.

For all individually significant exposures, which are impaired as at balance sheet date, the Group measures the impairment
allowance (impairment loss) as part of individual assessment. The individual assessment is carrying out by the Group’s
employees and consists of individual verification of the impairment occurrence and projection of future cash flows from
foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral or other resources. The Group compares the estimated future
cash flows applied for measurement of individual impairment allowances with the actual cash flows on a regular basis.
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For all individually insignificant exposures, which are impaired as at balance sheet date, the Group measures the impairment
allowance (impairment loss) as part of collective assessment. Each exposure assessed collectively is grouped based on
similar credit risk characteristics (on the basis of the borrower’s type, the product’s type, past-due status or other relevant
factors impacting on the debtor’s ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms). The future cash flows are
estimated on the basis of historical data of cash flows and historical loss experience for exposures with credit risk
characteristics similar to those in the group. Historical data, when necessary, are adjusted on the basis of current data to
remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently. The recovery rates and the methodology
and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows for particular groups of loan exposures are reviewed regularly.

For all loan exposures, for which no impairment triggers have been identified, the Group measures the allowance for losses
incurred, but not reported ('IBNR’).

The following table presents the impact on the net impairment losses on financial assets and off-balance sheet commitments
of a change in the estimated recovery rates (RR) and estimated probability of default (PD) by 10 percent.

NET IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AND OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS

31.12.2015

10 PERCENT INCREASE 10 PERCENT DECREASE
Recovery rates (RR) 110 990 (112 736)
Probability of default (PD) (43102) 43219
I NET IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AND OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS

10 PERCENT INCREASE 10 PERCENT DECREASE
Recovery rates (RR) 109 041 (109 246)
Probability of default (PD) (52 525) 52 860

Impairment of non-current assets

At each balance sheet date the Group reviews its assets for indications of impairment. Where such indications exist, the
Group makes a formal estimation of the recoverable value. If the carrying amount of a given asset is in excess of its
recoverable value, impairment is defined and a write-down is recorded to adjust the carrying amount to the level of its
recoverable value. The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to
sell and its value-in-use.

Estimation of the value-in-use of an assets (or cash generating unit) requires assumptions to be made regarding, among
other, future cash flows which the Group may obtain from the given asset (or cash generating unit), any changes in amount
or timing of occurrence of these cash flows and other factors such as the lack of liquidity. The adoption of different
measurement assumptions may affect the carrying amount of some of the Group’s non-current assets.

Measurement of derivatives and unquoted debt securities available for sale

The fair value of non-option derivatives and debt securities available for sale that do not have a quoted market price on an
active market is measured using valuation models based on discounted cash flows. Options are valued using option
valuation models. Variables used for valuation purposes include, where possible, the data from observable markets.
However, the Group also adopts assumptions concerning counterparty’s credit risks which affect the valuation of
instruments. The adoption of other measurement assumptions may affect the valuation of these financial instruments.
The assumptions used for fair value measurement are described in detail in Note 6.7 ‘Fair value of financial assets and
liabilities’.

Provisions for defined benefit plans

The principal actuarial assumptions applied to estimation of provisions for defined benefit plans, as well as the sensitivity
analysis were presented in Note 45.

Goodwill

The Group performs an impairment test of goodwill on a yearly basis or more often if impairment triggers occur. The
assessment of goodwill impairment requires an estimate of value in use of all cash-generating units to which the goodwill
relates. The principal assumptions applied to an impairment test of goodwill were presented in Note 35.
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5.5 Foreign currencies

e Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements of individual Group entities, including the Bank’s Branch in Paris, are presented in their
functional currencies, i.e. in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates. The
Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in Polish zloty. Polish zloty is the functional currency and the
presentation currency of the Bank. The Group applies as the closing rate the average the National Bank of Poland
(‘'NBP’) exchange rate, valid as at the balance sheet date.

e Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are calculated into the functional currency using the spot exchange rate from the date of
the transaction. Gains and losses from foreign currency translation differences resulting from settlements of such
transactions and from the statement of financial position valuation of monetary assets and liabilities expressed in foreign
currencies are recognized in the income statement.

e Foreign currency translation differences arising from non-monetary items, such as equity instruments classified as
financial assets measured at fair value through the profit or loss are recognized together with the changes in the fair
value of that item in the income statement.

Foreign currency translation differences arising from non-monetary items such as equity instruments classified as
available for sale financial assets are recognized in the revaluation reserves.

e  Companies of the Group
The consolidation of assets and liabilities of foreign business entities are translated into Polish currency i.e. to the
presentation currency as per the closing exchange rate for the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates calculated on the basis of the exchange rates of the reporting period except
for situations where exchange rates fluctuate significantly such that the average exchange rate is not an acceptable
approximation of the exchange rate from the transaction date. In such situations revenue and expenses are translated
on the basis of the exchange rate from the date of the transaction.

In December 2015 the Bank liquidated the Branch in Paris.

Financial statements of the Bank’s Branch in Paris are translated into Polish zloty using the following exchange rates:

e o translate statement of financial position items as at 31 December 2014, average exchange rates announced by the
NBP on 31 December 2014 have been used

31.12.2015 31.12.2014
PLN for EUR 1 - 4.2623

e fortranslation of income statement items for the period from 1 January 2015 until 30 November 2015 and for the period
from 1 January 2014 until 31 December 2014, arithmetic average values of exchange rates have been used,
announced by the NBP as at the last date of each month during the period from 1 January 2015 until 30 November
2015 and during the period from 1 January 2014 until 31 December 2014, respectively, as follows

2015 2014
PLN for EUR 1 41778 4.1893

The foreign exchange rate differences from the valuation of foreign entities are accounted for as a separate component of
equity.
Goodwill arising on acquisition of the entity operating abroad as well as any adjustments of the balance sheet value of assets
and liabilities to fair value arising on the acquisition of the entity are treated as assets and liabilities of a foreign entity i.e. they
are expressed in the functional currency of the overseas entity and translated at the closing exchange rate as described
above.
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5.6 Income statement

Interest income and expense

The Group recognizes in the income statement all interest income and expense related to financial instruments valued at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, financial assets available for sale and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss.

The effective interest rate is the discount rate of estimated future cash inflows and payments made during the expected
period until the expiry of the financial instruments, and in justified cases in a shorter time, to the net carrying amount of such
financial assets or liabilities. The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all commissions paid and received by
parties to the agreement, transaction costs and all other premiums and discounts, comprising an integral part of the effective
interest rate.

Interest income includes interest and commission fees received or due from credits, interbank deposits and held to maturity
securities, recognized in the calculation of effective interest rate, as well as from securities available for sale and measured
at fair value through the income statement and hedging derivatives.

At the recognition of impairment of financial instruments measured at amortized cost and of available for sale financial
assets, the interest income is accrued based on the carrying amount of the receivable (this is the new, lower value reduced
by the impairment charge) using the interest rate used when discounting the future cash flows for impairment calculation.

Interest expense of the reporting period related to interest liabilities associated with client accounts and liabilities from the
issue of treasury stock are recognized in the income statement using the effective interest rate.

Fee and commission income and expense

Fee and commission income is generated from financial services provided by the Group. Fee and commission income and

expense is recognized in the profit or loss using the following methods:

o fees and commissions directly attributable to financial asset or liability origination (both income and expense) are
recognized in the income statement using the effective interest rate method and are described above,

o fees and commissions relating to the loans and advances without a defined repayment schedule and without a defined
interest rate schedule e.g. overdraft facilities and credit cards are amortized over the life of the product using the straight
line method,

e other fees and commissions arising from the Group’s financial services offering (customer account transaction charges,
credit card servicing transactions, brokerage activity and canvassing) are recognized in the income statement up-front
when the corresponding service is provided.

Income and expense from bancassurance

The Bank splits the remuneration for sale of insurance products linked to loans into separate components, i.e. dividing the
remuneration into proportion of fair value of financial instrument and fair value of intermediary service to the sum of those
values. The fair values of particular components of the remuneration are determined based on market data to a highest
degree.

The particular components of the Bank’s remuneration for sale of insurance products linked to loans are recognized in the

income statement according to the following principles:

. remuneration from financial instrument — as part of effective interest rate calculation, included in interest income,

e  remuneration for intermediary service — upfront at the time when the insurance product in sold, included in fee and
commission income.

Additionally the Bank estimates the part of the remuneration which will be refunded in the future (eg. due to early termination
of insurance contract, early repayment of loan). The estimate of the provision for future refunds is based on the analysis of
historical data and expectations in respect to refunds trend in the future.

In 2015 the Bank recognized upfront 12% of bancassurance revenue associated with cash loans and 30% of bancassurance
revenue associated with mortgage loans. The remaining portion of bancassurance revenue is amortized over the life of the
associated loans as part of effective interest rate.
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Result on financial assets and liabilities held for trading

Result on financial assets and liabilities held for trading include:

e Foreign exchange result
The foreign exchange gains (losses) are calculated taking into account the positive and negative foreign currency
translation differences, whether realized or unrealized from the daily valuation of assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies. The revaluation is perform using the average exchange announced by the NBP on the balance sheet
date.
The foreign exchange result includes the trade margins on foreign exchange transactions with the Group’s clients, as
well as swap points from derivative transactions, entered into by the Group for the purpose of managing the Group’s
liquidity in foreign currencies.
Income from foreign exchange positions includes also foreign currency translation differences from valuation of
investments in foreign operations arising on disposal thereof. Until the disposal, foreign currency translation differences
from valuation of assets in foreign operations are recognized in ‘Other capital and reserves’.

e Income from derivatives and securities held for trading
The income referred to above includes gains and losses realized on a sale or a change in the fair value of assets and
liabilities held for trading.
The accrued interest and unwinding of a discount or a premium on securities held for trading is presented in the net
interest income.

Gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
This includes gains and losses realized on a sale or a change in the fair value of assets and liabilities, designated at fair
value through profit or loss.

The accrued interest and unwinding of a discount or a premium on financial assets/ liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss are recognized in the interest result.

Other operating income/expense

Other operating income includes mainly amounts received for compensation, revenues from operating leases, recovery of
debt collection costs, excess payments, miscellaneous income and releases of provision for legal cases. Other operating
expenses include mainly the costs of client claims, compensation paid, sundry expenses and costs of provision for litigations.

5.7 Valuation of financial assets and liabilities, derivative financial instruments

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:

e Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
This category comprises two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated at initial
recognition as financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets held for trading include: debt and equity securities, loans and receivables purchased or classified into
this category for the purpose of disposal thereof on a short-term basis. The classification also includes derivative
instruments (not used as hedging instruments).
Financial assets classified at the moment of original recognition as financial assets measured at fair value through profit
or loss include debt securities acquired by the Group for the purpose of elimination or considerable reduction of
inconsistencies in the valuation between these securities and the derivatives, which are economically hedging the
interest rate risk of such securities. Otherwise, such securities would have been classified into the available for sale
portfolio, with the effect of valuation recognized in revaluation reserves, and valuation of derivatives economically
hedging such securities reported in the income statement.
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e Held to maturity
These are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity, for which the entity
has an intent and ability to hold to maturity, other than:
a) those that the entity upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss,
b) those that the entity designates as available for sale, and
c) those that meet the definition of loans and receivables.
Financial assets classified into this category are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.
The recognition of amortized cost with the use of effective interest rate is recognized in interest income.
e Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets, with fixed or determinable payments, not quoted on active
markets, other than:
a) those that the entity intends to sell immediately or in the near term which are classified as held for trading and
those that the entity designates as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition,
b) those that the Group upon initial recognition designates as available for sale, or
c) those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of credit
deterioration, which are classified as available for sale.

This category also contains debt securities, purchased from the issuer, for which there is no active market, as well as
credits, loans, receivables from reverse repo transactions and other receivables acquired and granted. Loans and
receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method and with consideration of
impairment.

e Available for sale
This includes financial assets with an undefined holding period. The portfolio includes: debt and equity securities, as
well as loans and receivables not classified into other categories. Interest on assets available for sale is calculated using
the effective interest rate method, and recognized in the income statement.

Available for sale financial assets are measured at fair value, whereas gains and losses resulting from changes in fair
value against amortized cost are recognized in the revaluation reserves. Amounts in the revaluation reserves are
recognized in the income statement either on the sale of an asset, or its impairment. In case of impairment of an asset,
previous increases from revaluation to fair value will decrease the ‘Revaluation reserves’. Should the amount of
previously recognized increases be insufficient to cover the impairment, the difference will be recorded in the income
statement as ‘Net impairment losses on financial assets and off-balance sheet commitments’.

Dividends from equity instruments are recognized in the profit or loss at the moment the rights to receive such payments are
established.

Standardized purchase and sale transactions of financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss, designated as
held for trading (except for derivatives), held to maturity, and available for sale, are recognized and derecognized by the
Group on the settlement date of such transaction, i.e. as at the date of receipt or delivery of such assets.

Changes in the fair value of assets, which occur during the period from transaction date to transaction settlement date, shall
be recognized similarly as in the case of the asset held.

Credits and loans are recognized on the date of cash disbursement to the debtor.

Derivative instruments are recognized or derecognized on transaction dates.

Bank Pekao S.A. 22



Consolidated Financial Statements of Bank Pekao S.A. Group for the year ended on 31 December 2015
Translation of a document originally issued in Polish

Notes to the financial statements (cont)

(In PLN thousand)

Reclassification of financial assets

The Group may reclassify the financial assets classified as available for sale, which meet the definition of loans and
receivables, from the category of available for sale financial assets to the category of loans and receivables, if the Group has
the intent and the ability to hold such financial assets in foreseeable future or until their maturity.

If the financial asset with a given maturity is reclassified, prior gains and losses associated with such asset, recognized in
other comprehensive income, are amortized in the profit or loss throughout the remaining period until maturity, using the
effective interest rate method. Any differences between such new amortized cost and embedded amount is amortized
throughout the period remaining until the maturity of such asset using the effective interest rate method, similar to premium
or discount amortization.

The Group allows the reclassification of financial assets classified as financial assets measured at fair value through profit or
loss, if extraordinary circumstances occur, i.e. events that are unusual and highly unlikely to recur in the near term.

Such financial assets are reclassified at fair value as at reclassification date. The gains or losses recognized in the profit or
loss before such reclassification cannot be reversed. The fair value of financial assets, as at reclassification date, is
recognized as its new cost or its new amortized cost.

Impairment of financial assets

Assets measured at amortized cost — loans and advances

At each balance sheet date the Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence (‘triggers’) that loans and advances
or financial assets held-to-maturity measured at amortized cost (‘loan exposures’) are impaired. In the process of impairment
assessment the Group considers all loan exposures, irrespective of the level of risk of particular loan exposures or a group of
loan exposures.

The Group splits the loan exposures into individually significant exposures and individually insignificant exposures.

In respect to exposures assessed individually the Group applies the following list of impairment triggers:

e overdue in repayment of principal, interest or credit fees more than 90 days and more than 2 working days in case of
exposure towards banks including credit transactions and reverse repo/sell-buy-backs,

¢ significant financial difficulties of borrower (including loss of job or other events that could impact on ability to repayment
in case of individuals). Significant financial difficulties of economic entity mean financial standing that could threaten
timely repayment of liabilities towards the Group, especially when incurred losses have consumed equity in 50%,
excluding projects where losses have been assumed or where external financial support exists (in form of injections to
the equity, granting a loan, warranty/guarantee by related company or other third party, conversion of loan into equity,
issuance of shares/bonds),

e restructuring, if it is related with granting an advantage, due to economic or legal reasons resulted from financial
difficulties of the borrower, that in other circumstances the Group would not give. The advantage leads to reduction of
the Group’s loan exposure, and may include: reduction of the interest rate, temporary interest accruing holidays,
cancelling a part or total of the exposures, in this interest or principal,

¢ lowering by the well-known and accepted rating agency a borrower’s rating or country’s rating — country of domicile or
rating of debt securities issued by the borrower by at least 4 notches including modifiers within one year. Decrease in
credit rating alone is not an evidence of impairment trigger but could be confirmation of impairment if it is analyzed
together with other available information,

¢ significant worsening of rating or scoring analysis results. It means the decrease in rating by 4 notches in the scale and

at the same time move to non-performing category based only on rating criterion, excluding situations of rating

deterioration resulted from seasonality of activity and excluding impact of classification in RMT (‘Risk Management

Tool') on rating. Decrease in rating alone is not an evidence of impairment trigger but could be confirmation of

impairment if it is analyzed together with other available information,

the Group has started an execution process or has been informed about execution towards borrower,

the debt/loan is questioned by the borrower including commencement of legal proceedings,

the debt/loan has been due as the credit agreement has been terminated,

the motion for borrower’s bankruptcy has been filled in the court or legal proceedings has been instituted,
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e disappearance of active market for given credit exposure resulted from financial difficulties of debtor. This impairment
trigger could refer to financial instruments listed on stock exchanges, when due to significant deterioration in financial
standing of issuer (eventually bankruptcy), the liquidity of assets trading is so low that reliable price fixing is not
possible,

e receivership has been established or debtor has stopped/suspended its activity,

e unknown place of stay and not disclosed assets of the borrower.

In respect to exposures assessed collectively the Group applies the following list of impairment triggers:

e overdue in repayment of principal, interest or credit fees greater or equal to 90 days,

o significant financial difficulties of retail debtor, including loss of job or other events that could impact on ability to
repayment,

e unknown place of stay and not disclosed assets of the retail debtor or sole trader.

The Group classifies the exposure as past due in case the borrower has failed to make payment on the principal and/or
interest in the contractual maturity date. The Group presents the whole amount of exposure as past due, regardless of
whether the delay of payment affects the whole exposure, or only part of it (installment). The number of days past due for
receivables paid by installments is assumed as the period from the date of maturity of the earliest installment, when the
repayment is delayed.

In case of identification of impairment triggers for at least one of loan exposures of the borrower, all loan exposures of such
borrower are assessed for impairment.

For all loans exposures, which are impaired, the Group measures the amount of impairment allowance as the difference
between the loan exposure’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the loan
exposure’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the loan exposure is reduced through use of an allowance
account. The amount of the impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of
impairment loss decreases, then the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed by adjusting an allowance account.
The amount of the reversal is recognized in profit or loss.

For all individually significant exposures, which are impaired as at balance sheet date, the Group measures the impairment
allowance (impairment loss) as part of individual assessment. The individual assessment is carrying out by the Group’s
employees and consists of individual verification of the impairment occurrence and projection of future cash flows from
foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral or other resources. The Group compares the estimated future
cash flows applied for measurement of individual impairment allowances with the actual cash flows on a regular basis.

For all individually insignificant exposures, which are impaired as at balance sheet date, the Group measures the impairment
allowance (impairment loss) as part of collective assessment. Each exposure assessed collectively is grouped based on
similar credit risk characteristics on the basis of the borrower’s type, the product's type, past-due status or other relevant
factors impacting on the debtor’s ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms. The future cash flows are
estimated on the basis of historical data of cash flows and historical loss experience for exposures with credit risk
characteristics similar to those in the group (for example, the value of the real estate taken as the collateral for the
mortgage). Historical data, when necessary, are adjusted on the basis of current data to remove the effects of conditions in
the historical period that do not exist currently. The recovery rates (‘RR’) and the methodology and assumptions used for
estimating future cash flows for particular groups of loan exposures are reviewed regularly.

For all loan exposures, for which no impairment triggers have been identified, the Group measures the allowance for losses
incurred, but not reported (IBNR’). As part of IBNR assessment the Group estimates the loss resulting from events not
reported as at balance sheet date and for which no impairment triggers have been identified, but the events occurred prior to
balance sheet date and the loss was incurred. While estimating the IBNR, it is assumed that there is a several-months period
from the date of emergence of objective impairment trigger to the date of its reporting, i.e. loss identification period (‘LIP’).
The value of LIP parameter is estimated on the basis of statistical analysis using the historical data. The Group applies
different loss identification periods for different groups of loan exposures, taking into account the client's segment, the
product’s type and the collateral. The update of LIP parameter is carrying out at least once a year.
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The IBNR is measured based on the likelihood that the debtor will be unable to meet its obligations during loss identification
period (‘PD_LIP’) multiplied by impairment loss estimated analogously like collective allowance for value of exposure at
default (EAD’). The value of EAD parameter is estimated on the basis of historical data.

The Group estimates the value of PD_LIP parameter using the PD measured by Basel models with relevant transformation
taking into account the shortening of loss identification period for applied length of LIP and Point-in-Time adjustment. Within
the transformation the Group calibrates the values of PD parameter to the most up to date realized PD_LIP values once a
month. The values of PD_LIP as estimated reflect the current economic conditions the best. The model applied to
measurement of PD_LIP is of ‘Point-In-Time’ type.

The values of LIP, PD_LIP, EAD and RR applied for IBNR measurement as well as the methodology and assumptions used
for estimating such parameters for particular groups of loan exposures are reviewed regularly.

Financial assets available for sale

When a decline in the fair value of an available for sale financial asset has been recognized directly in equity and there is
objective evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss that has been recognized directly in equity is removed from
equity and recognized in the income statement. The amount of the cumulative loss transferred to the income statement is the
difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortization) and the current fair value. If, in a
subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available for sale increases and the increase can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in profit or loss, the impairment loss is
reversed, with the amount of the reversal recognized in the income statement.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried
at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.

Off-balance sheet commitments

The provisions for off-balance sheet commitments is measured as the difference between the expected value of balance
sheet exposure arising from granted off-balance sheet commitment and the present value of estimated future cash flows
from that balance sheet exposure at the date of impairment identification. The expected value of balance sheet exposure
arising from granted off-balance sheet commitment is measured using the credit conversion factor (‘CCF’), estimated on the
basis of historical data.

The values of CCF applied for measurement of provisions for off-balance sheet commitments as well as the methodology
and assumptions used for estimating such parameters for particular groups of loan exposures are reviewed regularly.

The Group estimates the future cash flows as part of individual assessment or collective assessment depending on
classification of particular off-balance sheet commitments as individually significant exposures or individually insignificant
exposures.

Repo and reverse-repo agreements
Repo and reverse-repo transactions, as well as sell-buy back and buy-sell back transactions are classified as sales or
purchase transactions of securities with the obligation of repurchase or resale at an agreed date and price.

Sales transactions of securities with the repurchase obligation granted (repo and sell-buy back) are recognized as at
transaction date in amounts due to other banks or amounts due to customers from deposits depending upon the
counterparty to the transaction. Securities purchased in reverse-repo and buy-sell back transactions are recognized as loans
and receivables from banks or as loans and receivables from customers, depending upon the counterparty to the
transaction.

The difference between the sale and repurchase price is recognized as interest income or expense, and amortized over the
contractual life of the contract using the effective interest rate method.
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Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group acquires the derivative financial instruments: currency transactions (spot, forward, currency swap and currency
options, CIRS), exchange rate transactions (FRA, IRS, CAP), derivative transactions based on security prices, indices of
stocks and commodities. Derivative financial instruments are initially recorded at fair value as at the transaction date and
subsequently re-measured at fair value at each balance sheet date. The fair value is established on the basis of market
quotations for an instrument traded in an active market, as well as on the basis of valuation techniques, including models
using discounted cash flows and options valuation models, depending on which valuation method is appropriate.

Positive valuation of derivative financial instruments is presented in the statement of financial position in the line ‘Derivative

financial instruments (held for trading)’ or ‘Hedging instruments’ on an asset side, whereas the negative valuation -

‘Derivative financial instruments (held for trading)’ or ‘Hedging instruments’ on a liabilities side. For financial instruments with

an embedded derivative component, if the whole or part of the cash flows related to such a financial instrument changes in a

way similar to what would be the case with the embedded derivative instrument on its own, then the embedded derivative

instrument is reported separately from the basic contract. This occurs under the following conditions:

e the financial instrument is not included in assets held for trading or in assets designated at fair value through the profit or
loss the revaluation results of which are reflected in the financial income or expense of the reporting period,

e the nature of the embedded instrument and the related risks are not closely tied to the nature of the basic contract and
to the risks resulting from it,

e a separate instrument characteristics of which correspond to the features of the embedded derivative instrument would
meet the definition of the derivative instrument,

e itis possible to reliably establish the fair value of the embedded derivative instrument.

In case of contracts that are not financial instruments with a component of an instrument meeting the above conditions the
built-in derivative instrument is classified in accordance with assets or liabilities of derivatives financial instruments with
respect to the income statement in accordance with derivative financial instruments valuation principles.

The method of recognition of the changes in the fair value of an instrument depends on whether a derivative instrument is
classified as held for trading or is designated as a hedging item under hedge accounting.

The changes in fair value of the derivative financial instruments held for trading are recognized in the income statement.

The Group designates some of its derivative instruments as hedging items in applying hedge accounting. The Group
implemented fair value hedge accounting as well as cash flow hedge accounting, under the condition of meeting the criteria
of IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’.

Fair value hedge accounting principles

Changes in the measurement to fair value of financial instruments indicated as hedged positions are recognized - in the part
ensuing from hedged risk - in the income statement. In the remaining part, changes in the carrying amount are recognized in
accordance with the principles applicable for the given class of financial instruments.

Changes in the fair market valuation of derivative financial instruments, indicated as hedging positions in fair value hedge
accounting, are recognized in the profit or loss in the same caption, in which the gains/losses from change in the value of
hedged positions are recognized.

Interest income on derivative instruments hedging interest positions hedged is presented as interest margin.

The Group ceases to apply hedge accounting, when the hedging instrument expires, is sold, dissolved or released (the
replacement of one hedging instrument with another or extension of validity of given hedging instrument is not considered an
expiration or release, providing such replacement or extension of validity is a part of a documented hedging strategy adopted
by given unit), or does not meet the criteria of hedge accounting or the Group ceases the hedging relation.

An adjustment for the hedged risk on hedged interest position is amortized in the income statement at the point of ceasing to
apply hedge accounting.

Bank Pekao S.A. 26



Consolidated Financial Statements of Bank Pekao S.A. Group for the year ended on 31 December 2015
Translation of a document originally issued in Polish

Notes to the financial statements (cont)

(In PLN thousand)

Cash flow hedge accounting principles

Changes in the fair value of the derivative financial instruments indicated as cash flow hedging instruments are recognized:

o directly in the caption ‘revaluation reserves’ in the part constituting the effective hedge,

e in the income statement in the line ‘Result on financial assets and liabilities held for trading’ in the part representing
ineffective hedge.

The amounts accumulated in the ‘Revaluation reserves’ are transferred to the income statement in the period, in which the
hedge is reflected in the income statement and are presented in the same lines as individual components of the hedged
position measurement, i.e. the interest income from hedging derivatives in cash flow hedge accounting is recognized in the
interest result, whereas gains/losses from foreign exchange revaluation are presented in the foreign exchange gains
(losses).

The Group ceases to apply hedge accounting when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, or if the Group revokes the
designation. In such cases, the accumulated gains or losses related to such hedging item, initially recognized in ‘Revaluation
reserves’, if the hedge was effective, are still presented in equity until the planned transaction was closed and recognized in
the income statement.

If the planned transaction is no longer probable, the cumulative gains or losses recognized in ‘Revaluation reserves’ are
transferred to the income statement for the given period.

Financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities are classified to the following categories:

¢ financial liabilities held for trading, valued at fair value,

o financial liabilities not held for trading, valued at amounts payable, measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest rate method.

Financial liabilities not held for trading consist of amounts due to banks and customers, loans from other banks, and own
debt securities issued.

De-recognition of financial instruments from the statement of financial position

Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire or when the
Group transfers the contractual rights to receive the cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all risk and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset are transferred.

The Group derecognizes a credit or a loan receivable, or its part, when it is sold. Additionally, the Group writes-off a
receivable against the corresponding impairment provision when the debt redemption process is completed and when no
further cash flows from the given receivable are expected. Such cases are documented in compliance with the current tax
regulations.

The Group derecognizes a financial liability, or its part, when the liability expires. The liability expires when the obligation
stated in the agreement is settled, redeemed or the period for its collection expires.

5.8 Valuation of other items in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position
Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill is defined as a surplus of the purchasing price over the fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of
the acquired subsidiary, associate or a unit under joint control. Goodwill at initial recognition is carried at purchase price
reduced by any accumulated impairment losses. Impairment is determined by estimating the recoverable value of the cash
generating unit, to which given goodwill pertains. If the recoverable value of the cash generating unit is lower than the
carrying amount an impairment charge is made. Impairment identified in the course of such tests is not subject to
subsequent adjustments.
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Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is presented in intangible assets and goodwill on acquisition of associates is
presented under the caption ‘Investments in associates’.

Other intangible assets
Intangible assets are assets controlled by the Group which do not have a physical form which are identifiable and represent
future economic benefits for the Group directly attributable to such assets.

These assets include:

e computer software licenses,

e  copyrights,

e costs of completed development works.

Intangible assets are initially carried at purchase price. Subsequently intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets with a definite useful life are amortized over their estimated useful life. Intangible assets with indefinite
useful life are not amortized.

All intangible assets are reviewed on a periodical basis to verify if any significant impairment triggers occurred, which would
require performing a test for impairment and a potential impairment charge.

As far as intangible assets with indefinite useful life and those still not put into service are concerned, impairment test is
performed on a yearly basis and additionally when impairment triggers are identified.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are defined as controlled non-current assets and assets under construction. Non-current
assets include certain tangible assets with an expected useful life longer than one year, which are maintained for the
purpose of own use or to be leased to other entities.

Property, plant and equipment are recognized at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
write downs. Historical cost consists of purchase price or development cost and costs directly related to the purchase of a
given asset.

Each component of property, plant and equipment, the purchase price or production cost of which is significant compared to
the purchase price or production cost of the entire item is a subject to separate depreciation. The Group separates the initial
value of property, plant and equipment into its significant parts.

Subsequent expenditures relating to property plant and equipment are capitalized only when it is probable that such
expenditures will result in future economic benefits to the Group, and the cost of such expenses can be reliably measured.

Service and maintenance costs of property, plant and equipment are expensed in the reporting period in which they have
been incurred.

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset form part of
the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation expense for property, plant and equipment and investment properties and the amortization expense for
intangible assets are calculated using straight line method over the expected useful life of an asset. Depreciated value is
defined as the purchase price or cost to develop a given asset, less residual value of the asset. Depreciation rates and
residual values of assets, determined for balance-sheet purposes, are subject to regular reviews, with results of such reviews
recognized in the same period.
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The statement of financial position depreciation and amortization rates applied to property, plant and equipment, investment
properties and intangible assets are as follows:

a) depreciation rates applied for non-current assets

Buildings and structures and cooperative ownership rights to residential premises and cooperative ownership rights to
commercial premises

Technical equipment and machines 4.5% - 30.0%
Vehicles 7% —20.0%

1.5% - 10.0%

b) amortization rates for intangible assets

Software licenses, copyrights 12.5% - 50.0%
Costs of completed development projects 33.3%
Other intangibles 20% - 33.3%

c) depreciation rates for investment properties

| Buildings and structures 1.5% - 10.0%

Land, non-current assets under construction and intangible assets under development are not subject to depreciation and
amortization.

Depreciation and impairment deductions are charged to the income statement in the item ‘Depreciation and amortization’.

Investment properties
Investment properties assets are recognized initially at purchase cost, taking the transaction costs into consideration. Upon
initial recognition, investment property assets are measured using the purchasing price model.

Investment property assets are derecognized from the statement of financial position when disposed of, or when such
investment property is permanently decommissioned and no future benefits are expected from its sale. Any gains or losses
resulting from de-recognition of an investment property are recognized in the income statement in the period when such de-
recognition occurred.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets held for sale include assets, the carrying amount of which is to be recovered by way of resale and not
from their continued use. The only assets classified as held for sale are those available for immediate sale in their present
condition, and the sale of which is highly probable, i.e. when the decision has been made to sell a given asset, an active
program to identify a buyer has been launched and the divestment plan is completed. Moreover, such assets are offered for
sale at a price which approximates its present fair value, and it is expected that the sale will be recognized as completed
within one year from the date of such asset is reclassified into this category.

Non-current assets held for sale are recognized at the carrying amount or at fair value reduced by the cost of such assets,
whichever is lower. Assets classified in this category are not subject to depreciation.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business which constitutes a separate line of business or a
geographical area of operations, which was sold, made available for sale or to be disposed, or is a subsidiary acquired
exclusively with a view to re-sale. Classification as a discontinued operation occurs on disposal or when the operation meets
the criteria to be classified as held for sale. When an operation is classified as held for sale, the comparative figures in the
income statement are represented as if the operation had been discontinued from the beginning of the comparative period.
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Leases
The Group is a party to leasing contracts on the basis of which it grants a right to use a non-current asset or an intangible
asset for an agreed period of time in return for payment.

The Group is also a party to leasing contracts under which it receives a right to use a non-asset or an intangible asset for an
agreed period of time from another party in return for a payment.

Operating leases

In the case of leasing contracts entered into by the Group acting as lessor, the leased asset is presented in the Group’s
statement of financial position, since there is no transfer to the lessee of essentially all risks and benefits resulting from the
asset.

In the case of lease agreements, entered into by the Group as lessee, the leased asset is not recognized in the Group’s
statement of financial position.

The entire amount of charges from operating leases is recognized in the profit or loss on a straight line basis, throughout the
leasing period.

Finance leases

The Group as lessor

In the lease agreements, where essentially all risks and benefits relating to the ownership of an asset are transferred, the
leased asset is no longer recognized in the statement of financial position of the Group. However, receivables are recognized
in the amount equal to the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are split into the financial income
and the reduction of receivables balance in order to maintain a fixed interest rate on the outstanding liability.

Lease payments from agreements, which do not meet the conditions of finance lease agreements are recognized as
revenues in the income statement using the straight-line method over the life of the lease.

The Group as lessee

For lease agreements in which in principle all risks and benefits relating to ownership of the leased assets are transferred to
the Group, the leased asset is recognized as a non-current asset and simultaneously a liability is recognized in the amount
equal to the present value of minimum lease payments as at the date of commencement of the lease. Lease payments are
split into costs of lease charges and a reduction of liabilities in order to maintain a fixed interest rate on the outstanding
liability. Financial costs are recognized directly in the income statement.

Non-current assets subject to finance lease agreements are depreciated in the same way as other non-current assets.
However, if it is uncertain whether the ownership of the asset subject of the contract will be transferred then the asset is
depreciated over the shorter of the expected useful life or the initial period of lease.

Lease charges from agreements that do not fulfill the criteria for finance lease agreements are recognized as costs in the
income statement on a straight line basis over the lease period.

Provisions

The provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) resulting from the past events,
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. If the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of a
provision is established by discounting forecasted future cash flows to the present value, using the discount rate reflecting
current market estimates of the time value of money and the possible risk associated with the obligation.

The provisions include the provisions relating to long-term employee benefits, in this those measured by an actuary and
provisions for restructuring costs. The provision for restructuring costs is recognized when the general recognition criteria for
provisions and detailed criteria for recognition of provisions for restructuring cost under IAS 37 ‘Provisions, contingent
liabilities and contingent assets’ are met. The amount of employment restructuring provision is calculated by the Group on
the basis of the best available estimates of direct outlays resulting from restructuring activities, which are not connected with
the Group’s current activities.
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The provisions are charged to the income statement, except for actuarial gains and losses from the measurement of the
defined benefit plans obligations, which are recognized in other comprehensive income.

Deferred income and accrued expenses (liabilities)
This caption includes primarily commission income settled using the straight line method and other income charged in
advance, that will be recognized in the income statement in the future periods.

Accrued expenses include accrued costs resulting from services provided for the Group by counterparties which will be
settled in future periods, accrued payroll and other employee benefits (including annual and Christmas bonuses, other
bonuses and awards and accrued holiday pay).

Deferred income and accrued expenses are presented in the statement of financial position under the caption ‘Other
liabilities’.

Government grants

The Group recognizes government grants when there is reasonable assurance that it will comply with any conditions
attached to the grant and the grant will be received. Government grants are recognized in profit or loss in the periods in
which the related expenses are recognized which the grants are intended to compensate. For the settlement of the grant, the
Group uses the income method. Government grants related to assets are presented in the statement of financial position of
the Group as a reduction in the carrying value of the asset.

Equity of the Group

Equity is comprised of the capital and funds created by the companies of the Group in accordance with the binding legal
regulations and the appropriate laws and Articles of Association. Equity also includes retained earnings. Subsidiaries’ equity
line items, other that share capital, are added to the relevant equity line items of the parent company, in the proportion of the
Group’s interest.

The equity of the Group includes only those parts of the subsidiaries’ equity which were created after the date of purchase of
shares or stocks by the parent entity.

The Group equity consists of the following:

a) share capital - applies only to the capital of the Bank as the parent entity and is presented at nominal value specified in
the Articles of Association and in the entry in the Enterprises Registry,

b) ‘issue premium’ - surplus generated during share issues over the nominal value of such issues, remaining after the
issue costs are covered. Moreover, this item also includes a change in the value of minority shares, ensuing from an
increase of the share of the Parent entity in Bank’s share capital. This accounting principle is in accordance with the
accounting principles applied by UniCredit Group,

c) the general banking risk fund is established at Bank Pekao S.A. in keeping with the Banking Act dated 29 August 1997
from profit after tax,

d) other reserve capital utilized for the purposes defined in the Statute is created from appropriations of profits,

e) revaluation reserve includes the impact of valuation of financial instruments available for sale, effects of valuation of
derivative instruments hedging cash flows, remeasurements of the defined benefit liabilities and the value of deferred
tax for items classified as temporary differences, recognized as valuation allowance. In the statement of financial
position, the valuation allowance is presented as net value,

f)  exchange rate differences include differences arising from valuation of net assets in foreign entities and from the
recalculation of the result of a foreign branch at the weighted average exchange rate at the balance sheet date in
relation to the average NBP exchange rate,

g) other capital:

o other supplementary capital, established in keeping with provisions under the Articles of Association of companies
from profit appropriations,
e  capital components:
- bonds convertible to shares - includes the fair value of financial instruments issued as part of transactions
settled in  equity instruments,
- provision for purchase of parent entity stocks,
e brokerage activity fund for stock broking operations, carried out by Bank Pekao S.A.,
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o retained earnings from prior periods includes undistributed profit and uncovered losses generated/incurred in prior
periods by subsidiaries consolidated full method,

e net profit/loss which constitutes profit/loss presented in the income statement for the relevant period. Net profit is
after accounting for income tax.

Non - controlling interests
Non - controlling interests are defined as the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Bank.

Share-based payments
Employee participation programs are established by the Group under which key management staff is granted pre-emptive
rights to buy shares of the Bank, including phantom shares, and shares of UniCredit S.p.A. (Note 46).

Bank’s Pekao S.A. phantom shares-settled share-based payment transaction

The cost of transactions settled with employees in phantom shares is measured by reference to the fair value of the liability
as of the balance sheet date.

The fair value of the liability is estimated based upon the Bank’s shares price on the (WSE) as of the balance sheet date and
expected number of phantom shares to which full rights will be acquired.

The cost of phantom share-based payments is recognized in personnel expenses together with the accompanying increase
in the value of liabilities towards employees presented in ‘Provisions’.

The accumulated cost recognized for transactions settled in phantom shares for each balance sheet date until the vesting
date reflects the extent of elapse of the vesting period and the number of rights to shares the rights to which — in the opinion
of the Bank’s Management Board for that date based on best available estimates of the number of phantom shares — will be
eventually vested.

Stock options and stock of the UniCredit S.p.A.
The Group entities joined the UniCredit-wide long term incentive program. The aim of the program is to offer to selected key
Group’s employees share options and shares of UniCredit S.p.A.

The fair value of the instruments granted to the Group employees was established following the UCI Group-wide applied Hull
and White model.

The expenses related to the rights granted are recognized in ‘Personnel expenses’ and respective increase is recognized as
liabilities presented in ‘Other liabilities’.

The Group is obliged to pay to UniCredit S.p.A. the fair value of the instruments vested at the time the instruments are
exercised.

5.9 Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. The income tax expense is recognized in the income statement
excluding the situations when it is recognized directly in equity. The current tax is the tax payable of the Group entities on
their taxable income for the period, calculated based on binding tax rates, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years. The receivables resulting from taxes are disclosed if the Group’s companies has sufficient certainty that they
exist and that they will be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are calculated, using the balance sheet method, on temporary differences between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates based on legislation enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and expected to
apply when the deferred tax asset or the deferred tax liability is settled.

A deferred tax asset is recognized for negative temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilized.

A deferred tax liability is calculated using the balance sheet method based on identification of positive temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax
purposes.
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5.10 Other

Contingent liabilities and commitments

The Group enters into transactions which are not recognized in the statement of financial position as assets or liabilities, but

which result in contingent liabilities and commitments. Contingent liabilities are characterized as:

e a potential obligation the existence of which will be confirmed upon occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future
events that are beyond the control of the Group (e.g. litigations),

e acurrent obligation which arises as a result of past events but is not recognized in the statement of financial position as
it is improbable that it will result in an outflow of benefits to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be
reliably measured (mainly: unused credit lines and guarantees and letters of credit issued).

The issuer of the financial guarantee contract recognizes it at the higher of:
o the amount determined in accordance with IAS 37 ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’,or

o the amount initially recognized less, when appropriate, cumulative amortization charges recognized in accordance with
IAS 18 ‘Revenue’.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated cash flow statement include ‘Cash and due from Central Bank’ and loans and
receivables from banks with maturities up to three months.

5.11 New standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that have
been approved and published by the European Union and are effective on or after
1 January 2015

STANDARD /
INTERPRETATION DESCRIPTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT

The amendment applies to contributions from employees or third

parties to defined benefit plans. The aim of the amendments is to ) )
IAS 19 (amendment) simplify the accounting for contributions that are independent of ~ The Group claims that the standard’s amendment did

the number of years of employee service, for example, employee
contributions that are calculated according to a fixed percentage
of remuneration. o

The amendment is effective since 1 February 2015.

not have a material impact on its financial statements

‘Employee benefits’ in the period of its first application.

The impact of the initial application of the Interpretation

IFRIC 21 ‘Levies’

IFRIC 21 is an interpretation of IAS 37 ‘Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets’. The interpretation clarifies what
is an event giving rise to the obligation to pay a levy.

will depend on the specific levies imposed, applicable
at the date of initial application. The Group claims
that the standard’s amendment did not have a material
impact on its financial statements in the period

of its first application.

Improvements to IFRS
2010-2012

The annual improvements to IFRS 2010-2012 principally aim to
solve inconsistencies and specify vocabulary.
The improvements are effective since 1 February 2015.

The Grun. claims that the improvements did not have
a material impact on its financial statements in the
period of its first application.

Im%)rovements to IFRS
2011-2013

The annual improvements to IFRS 2011-2013 principally aim to
solve inconsistencies and specify vocabulary.

The Gro_uF_ claims that the improvements did not have
a material impact on its financial statements in the
period of its first application.
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5.12 New standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that have
been published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and not yet
approved by the European Union

STANDARD /
INTERPRETATION

DESCRIPTION

IMPACT ASSESSMENT

IFRS 11 (amendment)
‘Joint Arrangements’

The amendments add new guidance on how to account for the
acquisition_of an interest in a joint operation that constitutes a
business. The amendments specify the appropriate accounting
treatment for such acquisitions. = o

Date of %ppllcanon: the first financial year beginning after
1 January 2016.

The Group claims that the standard’s amendment will
not have a material impact on its financial statements
in the period of its first application.

IAS 1 ‘Presentation of the
financial statements’

The amendments clarify that among others an entity should not
reduce understandabi |t?1/ by{) aggregating or disaggregating
information in a manner that obscures useful information.

Date of azppllcanon: the first financial year beginning after
1 January 2016.

The Group claims that the standard’s amendments will
have an impact on the presentation of the disclosures.

IAS 16 (amendment)

‘Property, Plant and

Equipment and IAS 38

g:metngIment) ‘Intangible
SSe

The IASB has clarified that the use of revenue-based methods to
calculate the depreciation of an asset is not appropriate because
revenue generated by an activity that includes the use of an asset
generally reflects factors other than the consumption of the
economic benefits embodied in the asset.

The IASB also clarified that revenue is generally presumed to be
an mapprogrlate basis for measuring the consumption of_the
economic benefits embodied in an intangible asset. ~This
presumption, however, can be rebutted in certain limited
circumstances. ) o

Date of application: the first financial year beginning after
1 January 2016.

The Group claims that the standards amendments will
not have a material impact on its financial statements
in the period of its first application.

IAS 16 (amendment)
‘Property, Plant and
Equipment’ and IAS 41
(amendment) ‘Agriculture’

IAS 41 ‘Agriculture’ currently requires all biological assets related
to agricultural activity to be’measured at fair value less costs to
sell.” This is based on the principle that the biological
transformation that these assets undergo during their lifespan is
best reflected by fair value measurement. However, there is a
subset of biological assets, known as bearer plants, which are
used solely to grow produce over several periods. At the end of
their productive lives they are usually scrapped. Once a bearer
lant is mature, apart from bearing produce, its biological
ransformation is no longer significant in generating future
economic benefits. )
The IASB decided that bearer plants should be accounted for in
the same wa){ as property, plant and equipment in IAS 16
‘Property, Plant and Equipment’, because their operation is similar
to that of manufacturing. ) o
Date of application: the first financial year beginning after
1 January 2016.

The Group claims that the standard’s amendments will
not have a material impact on its financial statements
in the period of its first application.

1AS 27 gamendment)
‘Separate Financial
Statements’

The amendments to IAS 27 will allow entities to use the equity
method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures
and associates in their separate financial statements.

Date of application: the first financial year beginning after
1 January 2016.

The Group claims that the standard’s amendments will
not have a material impact on its financial statements
in the period of its first application.

Improvements to IFRS
2012-2014

The annual improvements to IFRS 2012-2014 principally aim to
solve inconsistencies and specify vocabulary. o

Date of application: the first” financial year beginning after
1 January 2016.

The Group claims that the improvements will not have
a material impact on its financial statements in the
period of its first application.
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5.13 New standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that have
been published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and not yet
approved by the European Union

STANDARD /
INTERPRETATION

DESCRIPTION

IMPACT ASSESSMENT

IFRS 9 ‘Financial
Instruments’

New regulations constitute a part of changes designed to replace
IAS 39 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement'.
]]'n\le main changes, introduced by the new standard, are as
ollows:
e new categorisation of financial assets, o
e new criteria of assets classification to the group of financial
assets measured at amortized cost,
e new impairment model — expected credit losses model,
e new principles for recognition of changes in fair value
measurement of capital investment in financial instruments,
e climination of the necessity to separate embedded
derivatives from financial assets. ) )
The major part of IAS 39 requirements relating to financial
liabilities classification and valuation were transferred to IFRS 9
unchanged. o o
Date o %ppllcanon: the first financial year beginning after
1 January 2018.

The impact assessment of the new standard
implementation on Group’s financial statements is
described in_note 5.2 Basis of preparation of
Consolidated Financial Statements.

IFRS 14 ‘Regulatory
deferral accounts’

The aim of this standard is to enhance the comparability of
ﬂn?nltt:_lal reporting by entities that are engaged in rate-regulated
activities.

Date of application: the first financial year beginning after
1 January 2016.

The Group claims that the new standard will not have
a material impact on its financial statements in the
period of its first application.

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from
Contracts with Customers’

The Standard will improve the financial reporting of revenue and
improve comparability of the top line in financial statements
%Iobally. o ) )

he core principle of the new Standard is to recognize revenue to
depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in amounts
that reflect the consideration (that is payment{ to which the
company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. In ‘accordance with new IFRS 15, the revenue is
recog}mzed when the control over the goods or services is
transterred to the customer. ) o

Date of azppllcanon: the first financial year beginning after
1 January 2018.

The Group is currently assessin? the impact of the
IFRS 15 application on'its financial statements.

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’

Under IFRS 16 a lessee recognises a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability. The right-of-use asset is treated similarly to other
non-financial assets and depreciated accordingly. The lease
liability is initially measured at the present value” of the lease
payments ﬁayable over the lease term, discounted at the rate
implicit in the’lease if that can be read||¥ determined. If that rate
cannot be readily determined, the lessee shall use their
incremental borrowing rate. As with IFRS 16's predecessor, I1AS
17, lessors classify leases as operating or finance in nature. A
lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying
asset. Otherwise a lease is classified as an operating lease. For
finance leases a lessor recognises finance income over the lease
term, based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of
return on the net investment. A lessor recognises operating lease
payments as income on a_straight-ine basis or, if more
representative of the pattern in which benefit from use of the
underlying asset is diminished, another systematic basis.

Date of application: annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019

The Group is currently assessing the impact of the
IFRS 15 application on'its financial statements.

IFRS 10 (amendment)
‘Consolidated Financial
Statements’ and IAS 28
(]amendment)

nvestments in Associates
and Joint Ventures’

The amendments concern the sale or contribution of assets
between the investor and the associate or joint venture. The main
consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is
recognized when a transaction involves a business (whether it is
housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is recognized
when a fransaction ‘involves assets that do not constitute a
business, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary.

Date of application: the first financial year beginning after
1 January 2016.

The Group claims that the standard’s amendments will
not have a material impact on its financial statements
in the period of its first application.
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STANDARD /
INTERPRETATION

Amendments to IFRS 10

gg?:gi?%ﬂ;g‘gqgal The amendments clarify the application of the consolidation

: ; i ; : The Group claims that the standard’s amendments will
‘Disclosure of interests jn ~ £XCePtion for investment entities and their subsidiaries. not have a material impact on its financial statements
thaved Date of application: the first financial year beginning after . : i3 e
%I:I%rs ?nqg%?gi ﬁrxisé%g aztgs 1 January 2016. y ginning in the period of its first application.

and Joint Ventures’

DESCRIPTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT

The amendments to IAS 12 clarify how to account for deferred tax

IAS 12 (amendment) assets related to debt instruments measured at fair value. The Group is currently analyzing the impact of those
‘Income Taxes' I%)'jte of %B%catlon: annual periods beginning on or after changes on the financial statements.
anuary .

The amendments are intended to clarify IAS 7 to improve
information provided to users of financial statements about an
entity's financing activities. The amendments require an entity to ) .
1AS 7 (amendment{:| . provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to  The Group claims that the standard’s amendments will
ows

‘Statement of Cash evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, not have a material impact on its financial statements
- Disclosure Initiative |nhclud|ng both "changes arising from cash flows and non-cash in the period of its first application.

changes.

Date ~ of agplication: annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2017.

6. Risk management

The risk management policy of the Group has a goal of optimizing the structure of the statement of financial position and off-
balance sheet positions under the consideration of all risks in relation to income and other risk that the Group encounters in
conducting its daily activity. Risks are monitored and controlled with reference to profitability and equity coverage and are
regularly reported in accordance with rules briefly presented below.

All important risk types, occurring in the course of the Group’s operations are described as follows.

6.1 Organizational structure of risk management

Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board provides supervision over the risk management control system, assessing the adequacy and
effectiveness. Moreover, the Supervisory Board also provides supervision of the compliance with Group policy with respect
to risk management as it relates to the Group’s strategy and financial planning.

Management Board

The Management Board is responsible for the development, implementation and functioning of risk management processes
by, among others, introduction of relevant, internal regulations, also taking into consideration the results of internal audit
inspections.

The Management Board is responsible for the effectiveness of the risk management system, internal control system, internal
capital computation process and the effectiveness of the review of the process of computing and monitoring of internal
capital. Moreover, the Management Board also introduces the essential adjustments or improvements to those processes
and systems whenever necessary. This need may be a consequence of changing risk levels of the Group’s operations,
business environment factors or other irregularities in the functioning of processes or systems.

Periodically, the Management Board submits to the Supervisory Board concise information on the types, scale and
significance of risks the Group is exposed to, as well as on methods used in the management of such risks.

The Management Board is responsible for assessing, whether activities such as identification, measurement, monitoring,
reporting and control or mitigation are being carried out appropriately within the scope of the risk management process.
Moreover, the Management Board examines whether the management at all levels is effectively managing the risks within
the scope of their competence.
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Comnmittees

In performing these tasks, in terms of risk management, the Management Board is supported by committees:

e Assets, Liabilities and Risk Management Committee (ALCO) - in terms of market risk management, liquidity and capital
adequacy,

e Liquidity and Market Risk Committee (LMRC) - in terms of liquidity and market risk management, acting as support for
Assets, Liabilities and Risk Management Committee,

e  Operational Risk Committee — in operational risk management,

e  Credit Committee - in making credit decisions within the powers and in the case of the largest transactions in preparing
recommendations for the Board of Directors,

e Change Management Committee - in the implementation of new or modification of existing products and processes in
business and outside business,

e  Safety Committee - in the field of security and business continuity management.

6.2 Credit risk

Credit risk is one of the basic risks associated with activities of the Group. The percentage share of credits and loans in the
Group’s statement of financial position makes the maintenance of this risk at safe level essential to the Group’s performance.
The process of credit risk management is centralized and managed mainly by Risk Management Division units, situated at
the Bank Head Office or in local units. The integration of various risks in the Risk Management Division, where apart from
credit risk, market and operational risk are dealt with, facilitates effective management of all credit-related risks. This process
covers all credit functions — credit analysis, making credit decisions, monitoring and loan administration, as well as
restructuring and collection. These functions are conducted in compliance with the Bank’s credit policy, adopted by the
Bank's Management Board and the Bank’s Supervisory Board for a given year and its related guidelines. The effectiveness
and efficiency of credit functions are achieved using diverse credit methods and methodologies, supported by advanced IT
tools, integrated into the Bank’s general IT system. The Bank’s procedures facilitate credit risk mitigation. In particular those
related to transaction risk evaluation, establishing collateral, setting authorization limits for granting loans and limiting of
exposure to some areas of business activity in line with current client’s segmentation scheme in the Bank.

The Bank’s lending activity is limited by the restrictions of the Banking Act as well as internal limits in order to increase
safety. These restrictions refer in particular to concentration limits for specific sectors of the economy, share of large
exposures in the loan portfolio of the Bank and exposure limits for particular foreign countries, foreign banks and domestic
financial institutions. Credit granting limits, concentration limits for specific business activities as well as internal and external
prudential standards include not only credits, loans and guarantees, but also derivatives transactions and debt securities.

The Bank established the following portfolio limits:

e share of large exposures in the loan portfolio of the Bank — approved by the Management Board and the Supervisory
Board of the Bank,
customer segment limits — established in the Bank’s credit policy,
product limits (mortgage loans given to private individuals, financing commercial real estate) - established in the Bank’s
credit policy,

e concentration limits for specific sectors of the economy - approved by the Credit Committee of the Bank.

Since key limits are determined by decision-making bodies which simultaneously receive and analyze reports on credit risk
(presenting also the Basel parameters of credit risk), limit-related decisions take into consideration the credit risk
assessments supported by internal rating systems. Moreover, the Bank limits higher risk credit transactions, marked by
excess risk by restricting the decision-making powers in such cases to higher-level decision-making bodies.

The management of the Bank’s credit portfolio quality is further supported by regular reviews and continuous monitoring of
timely loan repayments and the financial condition of the borrowers.

Rating models utilized in the credit risk management process
For credit risk management purposes, the Bank uses the internal rating models depending on the client’s segment and/or
exposure type.
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The rating process is a significant element of credit risk assessment in relation to clients and transactions, and constitutes
a preliminary stage of the credit decision-making process of granting a new credit or changing the terms and conditions of an
existing credit and of the credit portfolio quality monitoring process.

In the credit risk measurement the following three parameters are used: PD, LGD and EAD. PD is the probability of a Client's
failure to meet its obligations and hence the violation of contract terms and conditions by the borrower within one year
horizon, such default may be subject-matter or product-related. LGD indicates the estimated value of the loss to be incurred
for any credit transaction from the date of occurrence of such default. EAD reflects the estimated value of credit exposure as
at such date.

The risk parameters used in the rating models are designed for calculation of the expected losses resulted from credit risk.

The value of expected loss is one of the significant assessment criteria taken into consideration by the decision-making
bodies in the course of the crediting process. In particular, this value is compared to the requested margin level.

The level of minimum margins for given products or client segments is determined based upon risk analysis, taking into
consideration the value of risk parameters assessed and comprising an element of internal rating systems.

The client and transaction rating, as well as other credit risk parameters hold a significant role in the Credit Risk
Management Information System. For each rating model, the credit risk reports provide information on the comparison
between the realized parameters and the theoretical values for each rating class.

Credit risk reports are generated on a monthly basis, with their scope varying depending upon the recipient of the report (the
higher the management level, the more aggregated the information presented). Hence, the reports are being effectively used
in the credit risk management process.

For internal purposes, within the Bank the following rating models are used, developed in accordance with provisions of
Regulation (EU) no 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential requirements for
credit institutions and investment firms:

1) For the private individuals, the Bank uses two separate models applicable for:
e mortgage loans,
e consumer loans.
2)  For the corporate clients, the Bank uses rating models dividing clients for:
e clients with income not exceeding EUR 500 million,
e  corporate clients assessed by central model with income exceeding EUR 500 million,
e  specialized lending.

The following exposure types are not covered by internal rating models:

1) retail exposures immaterial in terms of size and perceived risk profile:
Eurokonto limits,
overdrafts,
forced debits,
exposures related to credit cards,
exposures related to the Building Society (Kasa Mieszkaniowa) unit,
other loans.
2) corporate clients immaterial in terms of size and perceived risk profile:
exposures to stock exchanges and other financial intermediators,
exposures to insurance companies,

project financing,

purchased receivables,
exposures to investment funds,
exposures to leasing companies and financial holding companies,
other loans.
3) exposures to regional governments and local authorities which are not treated as exposures to central governments,

for which the number of significant counterparties is limited.
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Rating scale
The rating scale is determined by the client segment and the exposure type.

The proceeds of assigning a client or an exposure to a given rating class depends on its probability of default

(PD parameter).

The tables below present the loan portfolio quality for exposures encompassed by internal rating models.

The distribution of rated portfolio for individual client segment (excluding impaired loans) — mortgage loans

RATING 31.12.2015 31.12.2014
CLASS RANGE OF PO CARRYING AMOUNT %PORTFOLIO CARRYING AMOUNT %PORTFOLIO
1 0.00% <=PD <0.06% 10 532 502 25.9% 9204 532 25.3%
2 0.06% <=PD <0.19% 5936 116 14.6% 5157 908 14.2%
3 0.19%<=PD <0.35% 16 303 771 40.1% 14 388 070 39.6%
4 0.35% <=PD <0.73% 5213593 12.8% 4 689 007 12.9%
5 0.73%<=PD <3.50% 1393 240 3.4% 1768 054 4.8%
6 3.50% <=PD <14.00% 651234 1.6% 536 705 1.5%
7 14.00% <= PD < 100.00% 652 160 1.6% 614 263 1.7%
Total 40 682 616 100.0% 36 358 539 100.0%
The distribution of rated portfolio for individual client segment (excluding impaired loans) — consumer loans
31.12.2015 31.12.2014

ES\ISNSG RANGE OF PD CARRYING AMOUNT %PORTFOLIO CARRYING AMOUNT %PORTFOLIO
1 0.00% <=PD <0.34% 573 469 74% 586 362 8.1%
2 0.34% <=PD  <0.80% 805 937 10.3% 785 442 10.8%
3 0.80% <=PD < 1.34% 1390 763 17.8% 1380223 19.0%
4 1.34% <=PD  <2.40% 2393959 30.6% 2071926 28.6%
5 240%<=PD <4.75% 1594 636 20.4% 1388 335 19.1%
6 4.75% <=PD <14.50% 673978 8.6% 620 601 8.6%
7 1450% <=PD < 31.00% 187 224 2.4% 216 987 3.0%
8 31.00% <=PD < 100.00% 194 052 2.5% 205 325 2.8%
Total 7814018 100.0% 7 255 201 100.0%
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The distribution of rated portfolio for corporate client segment (excluding impaired loans) - clients with income not exceeding

EUR 500 million
31.12.2015 31.12.2014

gﬂ!SNSG RANGE OF P CARRYING AMOUNT %PORTFOLIO CARRYING AMOUNT %PORTFOLIO
1 0.00% <=PD <0.15% 357910 2.4% 574 961 4.0%
2 0.15% <=PD <0.27% 1 887 596 12.5% 1755 225 12.1%
3 0.27% <=PD <0.45% 2348 388 15.6% 2410148 16.7%
4 0.45%<=PD <0.75% 2304 203 15.3% 2341503 16.2%
5 0.75% <=PD <1.27% 3136 094 20.8% 1689 707 11.7%
6 127% <=PD <225% 1935237 12.8% 1982 327 13.7%
7 225%<=PD <4.00% 1043523 6.9% 782 207 54%
8 4.00%<=PD <8.50% 1898 162 12.6% 2720855 18.8%
9 8.50% <= PD < 100.00% 165 709 1.1% 195 881 1.4%
Total 15076 822 100.0% 14 452 814 100.0%

The distribution of rated portfolio for corporate client segment (excluding impaired loans) — clients assessed by central model
with income exceeding EUR 500 million

RATING 31.12.2015 31.12.2014
S RANGE OF PD - -

CARRYING AMOUNT %PORTFOLIO CARRYING AMOUNT %PORTFOLIO
1 0.0000% <=PD  <0.0011% - 0.0% - 0.0%
2 0.0011% <=PD  <0.0031% - 0.0% - 0.0%
3 0.0031% <=PD  <0.0069% - 0.0% - 0.0%
4 0.0069% <=PD <0.0124% - 0.0% - 0.0%
5 0.0124% <=PD  <0.0223% - 0.0% - 0.0%
6 0.0223% <=PD  <0.0395% - 0.0% - 0.0%
7 0.0395% <=PD  <0.0691% 1243315 24.2% 706 957 14.9%
8 0.0691% <=PD  <0.1208% 645 108 12.6% 784 727 16.6%
9 0.1208% <=PD  <0.2091% 629 490 12.3% 377 371 8.0%
10 0.2091% <=PD < 0.3581% 375435 7.3% 563 945 11.9%
11 0.3581% <=PD <0.6132% 81377 1.6% 210375 4.5%
12 0.6132% <=PD <1.0807% 93 303 1.8% 861 246 18.2%
13 1.0807% <=PD  <1.9599% - 0.0% - 0.0%
14 1.9599% <=PD < 3.5545% 2063 695 40.2 - 0.0%
15 3.5545% <=PD <7.6705% - 0.0% 1222 552 25.9%
16 7.6705% <=PD <19.6959% 16 0.0% - 0.0%
17 19.6959% <= PD < 100.0000% - 0.0% - 0.0%
Total 5131739 100.0% 4727173 100.0%

For specialized lending, the Bank adopts slotting criteria approach within internal rating method which uses supervisory
categories in the process of assigning risk weigh category.
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(In PLN thousand)
Distribution of the portfolio exposure to specialized lending (excluding impaired loans)
SUPERVISORY CATHEGORY 1122019 112200
CARRYING AMOUNT %PORTFOLIO CARRYING AMOUNT %PORTFOLIO
High 1647122 25.0% 878 848 16.7%
Good 4185 156 63.4% 2993 883 57.1%
Satisfactory 720 513 10.9% 1356 873 25.9%
Low 43078 0.7% 17 093 0.3%
Total 6 595 869 100.0% 5246 697 100.0%
Division of loans and advances to customers for covered and not covered by internal rating models
31.12.2015 31.12.2014
Loans with no impairment: 119 349 516 112 009 183
Loans to individuals: 51611229 46 602 904
Covered by internal rating model: 48 496 634 43613 740
Mortgage loans 40682616 36 358 539
Consumer loans 7814018 7255201
Other, not covered by internal rating model 3114 595 2989 164
Loans to corporates: 67 738 287 65 406 279
Covered by internal rating model: 20208 561 19179 987
Clients with income not exceeding EUR 500 million 15076 822 14 452 814
Clients assessed by central model with income exceeding EUR 500 million 5131739 4727173
Specialized lending exposures 6 595 869 5246 697
Debt securities, not covered by internal rating model 12 330 221 10 402 996
Repo transactions, not covered by internal rating model 4755472 5789 064
Other, not covered by internal rating model 23 848 164 24787 535
Impaired loans 2705410 2968 958
Total loans and advances to customers (*) 122 054 926 114978 141

(*) Loans and advances to customers include receivables from financial leases and bills of exchange eligible for rediscounting at Central Bank.

Client/transaction rating and credit risk decision-making level
Decision-making level connected with transaction approval is directly dependent upon the client’s rating.

Decision-making entitlement limits are associated with the position held, determined in accordance with the Bank’s
organizational structure. The limits are determined taking the following matters into consideration:

e the Bank’s total exposure to a client, including the amount of the requested transaction,

e type of aclient,

e commitments of persons and entities associated with the client.
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(In PLN thousand)

Validation of rating models

The internal validation of models and risk parameter assessments is focused on the quality assessment of risk models and
the accuracy and stability of parameter assessments, applied by the Bank. The validation covers risk models and parameters
assessed locally, whereas the validation of central models is carried out within UniCredit Group. Validation is carried out at
the level of each risk model, although the Bank may apply several models for each class of exposures.

Moreover, the internal audit unit is obligated to review the Bank’s rating systems and their functionality at least once a year.
In particular, the internal audit unit reviews the scope of operations of credit division and estimations of risk parameters. It
also verifies compliance of rating systems and their functionality with all requirements of advanced methods.

Group’s exposure to credit risk

The maximum credit risk exposure
The table below presents the maximum credit risk exposure for statement of financial position and off-balance sheet
positions as at the reporting date

31.12.2015 31.12.2014
Due from Central Bank 4930 181 5826 907
Loans and advances from banks and from customers (*) 125 869 